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This announcement is made pursuant to Rule 13.10B of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Suntrust Resort Holdings, Inc., an overseas listed subsidiary of LET Group Holdings Limited
listed on The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. (“PSE”), has published its annual report for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (the “2023 Annual Report”) on the website of PSE on 1 April
2024. For details, please refer to the attached 2023 Annual Report.

By order of the Board
LET Group Holdings Limited
Lo Kai Bong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 2 April 2024

As at the date of this announcement, the executive Director is Mr. Lo Kai Bong (Chairman).
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
SEC FORM 17-A, AS AMENDED
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17

OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE AND SECTION 141
OF THE CORPORATION CODE OF THE PHILIPPINES

1. For the fiscal year ended: 31 December 2023

I

SEC Identification Number: 10683 3. BIR Tax Identification No.: 000-141-166-000

4. Exact name of issuer as specified in its Charter:
SUNTRUST RESORT HOLDINGS, INC.

5. METRO MANILA, PHILIPPINES B, I:I (SEC Use Only)
Provinee, country, or other jurisdiction of Industry Classification Code
incorporation or organization

7. 26" Floor Alliance Global Tower, 36" Street corner 11" Avenue, Uptown Bonifacio,
Taguig City, Philippines 1634
Address of principal office and postal code

8. 02 8894 6300

[ssuer’s telephone number, including area code

9. N.A.
Former name, former address, and former fiscal year, if changed since last report

1. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the SRC. or Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA

Title of Each Class MNuwmber of Shares of Commeon Stock
Outstanding and Amount of Debt Outstanding
Common 7.250,000,000'

11. Areany ar all of these securities listed on a stock exchange?
Yes[x] Nol[ ]

If yes, state the name of such stock exchange and the classes of securities listed therein:
The common shares of the Company are listed on The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. (“PSE"™).

! &g af the date of this Annual Report, only <, 550,000,000 shares are lsted on the PSE. The Company applied Tor listing of the
remaining 2. 700.000,000 shures on 3 January 2024, The spplication is curvently pending with the PSE.

Suntrust Resort Holdings, lnc.
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12. Check whether the Issuer:
{#) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the SRC and SRC Rule 17.1 thereunder, or
Section 1] of the RSA and RSA Rule | l{a)-1 thereunder. or Sections 26 and 141 of the Corporation
Code of the Philippines during the preceding twelve (12) months (or for such shorter period that the
Registrant was required to file such reports); and
Yes [x] No[ ]
(b} has been subject to such filing requirements for the past ninety (90} days.
Yes [x] No| |

13. The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the Company as of 29 February

2024% is PhPS31,044,796.00 (number of shares held by the public as of 29 February 2024 multiplied
by the PSE closing price on 29 February 2024).

[The remainder of this page was intentionally left blank]

! Sixty (60} days priot to the date of filing, as required in the General Instructions for SEC Form 17-A. us amended
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PART 1 - BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION
ltem 1. Business
(1} Business Development

On 18 January 1956, Suntrust Resort Holdings, Ine., formerly Suntrust Home Developers, Ine, (the
“Company”’), then known as Ramie Textiles, Inc., was incorporated to engage in the business of
manufacture and sale of all types of ramie products. On 11 Febroary 19349, the Company was listed on
the PSE.

On 10 June 1994, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC™) approved the amendment to the
Articles of Incorporation (the “AOI1) of the Company changing the name, from Famie Textiles Inc.
1o Gaming Interest and Franchise Technologies, Inc.. its secondary purpose, and including a provision
denying pre-emptive rights to existing stockholders for any future issue of shares. Upon its conversion
10 a holding company, the Company sought to identify investment opportunitics which will yield
attractive refumns.

On 10 April 1995, the Company’s name was changed from Gaming Interest and Franchise
Technologies. Inc, to Greater Asia Resources Corporation. Subsequently, the Company acquired two
parcels of land situated in Tagaytay City with an approximate total area of 510,479 square meters in
exchange for 250,000 shares out of its unissued capital stocl.

On 11 August 1998, the SEC approved the Amended AOI of the Company changing the corporaie
name from Greater Asia Resources Corporation to BW Resource Corporation (“BWRC™), The
primary purpose of BWRC was 10 acquire interests in tourism or leisure-related enterprises, projects,
OF venlures.

On 17 August 1999 the SEC approved an increase in the Authorized Capital Stock (the “ACS"™) of the
Company from 450,000,000 shares to 2,000,000,000 shares with a par value of PhP1.00 per share. Out
of the increase in ACS, PhP [ 200.000.000.00 worth of shares were issued to Megaworld Corporation
(“*Megaworld™). With the entry of Megaworld on 3 October 2000, the SEC approved the change in
the Company’s name from BW Resource Corporation to Fainnont Holdings. [ne.

In July 2002, the Company acquired from an affiliate, Empire East Land Holdings, Inc. (“EELHI™),
all of the latter’s shareholdings in Empire East Properties. Inc. ("EEPT”). Prior to such acquisition,
EEPT was a wholly owned subsidiary of EELHI engaged in the development of socialized or low-cost
housing projects. In March 2004, the Company’s percentage of ownership in EEPI was reduced from
100% to 60% upon the subscription by EELHI to additional shares of stock of EEPL On 8 July 2008,
EEPL changed its name to Suntrust Propertics, Ine. (“SPE) and increased its ACS. with EELHI
subscribing to such increase. As a result, the Company’s ownership interest in SPI decreased from
60% to 20% and the Company’s control over SPT ceased and, as such, SPT became an associate of the
Company. In June 2013, the Company has sold all its remaining shares in 5P,

On 30 August 2003, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the decrease in the number of
members of the Board of Directors from eleven (11) to seven (7) directors and the extension of its
corporate term for another fifty (50) years from 18 January 2006, These changes to the AOl were
ratified by the stockholders of the Company on 11 November 2005 and were approved by the SEC on
10 May 2006.

Suntrust Resort Holdings, Inc. 4
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On 6 May 2006, the SEC approved the change in the Company’s name from Fairmont Holdings, Ine.
to Suntrust Home Developers, Ine. The change in name was prompted by a change in the Company’s
primary purpose or nature of business: from a holding company to a real estate company authorized to
engage in real estate development. mass community housing, townhouses and rowhouses
development, residential subdivision, and other massive horizontal land development. To enable the
Company to finance any acguisitions or projects that it may undertake in line with its new corporate
purpose, the Board of Directors approved a PhP1000,000,000.00 increase in the Company's ACS or
from PhPZ,000,000,000.00 to PhP3.000.000,000.00, Out of the PhPLO0OGO0D,000.00 increase.
PHP250 000,000,00 was subscribed while PhP62.300,000.00 was actually paid-up in cash by
Megaworld,

On 25 October 2019, to allow the Company to venture m tourism-related businesses and facilitate
investments theretor, the Board of Directors approved the amendments to the Company’s primary and
secondary purposes in its AOL the conduct of fundraising activities for tourism-related businesses that
the Company would venture into such as the issuance of shares to third parties at par value or issuance
ol converiible bonds, and entering inlo a Co-development Agreement with Westside City Resorts
World, Inc. (now Westside City Inc.) (“Westside™). Further, the Beoard of Directors and the
stockholders of the Company ratified the previous resolution of the Board of Directors and
stockholders confirming the Board of Directors’ resolution dated 23 September 2014 and the
stockholders’ resolution on 18 November 2004 to increase the Company’s ACS,

On 28 October 2019, Fortune Noble Limited (“Fortune Noble™}, a wholly owned subsidiary of LET
Group Holdings Limited (“LET Group™), a listed company on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“HKEX"), acquired 51% ol the outstanding capital stock of the Company. The LET Group
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) through the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group™), the development and operation of an integrated resort in the Philippines. (ii) through
Summit Ascent Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries, the operation of a hotel and gaming business in
the Integrated Entertainment Zone of the Primorye Region of the Russian Federation, and (iii) property
development in Japan,

On 10 December 2019, the SEC approved the increase in the ACS of First Oceanic Property
Management, Inc. (“FOPM™), the Company s subsidiary since September 2011, Considering the shift
in the Company’s business focus, a new investor (a related party to a substantial stockholder of the
Company) infused capital in the form of cash to FOPM. Consequently, the Company’s interest in
FOPM was reduced to 24.27% of FOPM’s capital stock. Incorporated and registered with SEC on 31
January 1990, FOPM is engaged primanly in the management of real estate properties consisting of
residential and office condominiums and private estates. FOPM also holds 100% of the outstanding
shares of stock of CityLink Coach Services, Ine. (“CllyLink™), which was incorporated and registered
with the SEC on 7 November 2006. CityLink is a domestic corporation primarily engaged in providing
transportation services, (Hercafter, FOPM and CityLink will be colleetively referred as the “FOPM
Group.”)

On 20 December 2019, the SEC approved the increase in the Company's ACS from
PhP3.000,000,000.00 to PhP23.000.000,000.00. The SEC also approved the Company’s application
for registration under the Foreign Investments Act of 1991,

Cin 20 January 2020, the Company established SWC Project Management Limited. a wholly owned
subsidiary, in Hong Kong. In addition, on 17 February 2020, the Company also established WC Project
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Management Limited, also a wholly owned subsidiary, in Macau, Both subsidiaries are engaged in the
provision of project management services.

On 17 June 2020, the SEC approved the amendments to the Company’s primary and secondary
purposes: from that of a real estate company Lo a tourism-oriented company authorized to engage in
tourism-related businesses, including, but not limited to, acquiring, developing, improving, and
operating tourism-oriented facilities such as hotels, resorts, private clubs, leisure parks, cntertainment
centers, restaurants, food and beverage outlets, and other recreational facilities, and to operate, manage,
and/or maintain such other allied businesses. services, and facilities, incidental or necessary or
connected therewith,

On 19 January 2021, the SEC approved the incorporation of Suncity WC Hotel Inc., a new wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company in the Philippines, The subsidiary is engaged in the business of
estahlishing, constructing, operating, managing, and/or maintaining hotels. health and wellness shops,
cinema, car parks. entertainment centers, amusement centers and other tourism-related facilities, and
all its meidental and allied facilities and services, and o own (other than land), hold, lease, or sublease
any real and personal properties which may be necessary or convenient for the conduct of its
businesses. The subsidiary has not yet started commercial operations as of 31 December 2023,

On 25 March 2021, an Agreement for Sale and Purchase (the "FOPM SP Agreement™) was entered
into between the Company and Asian E-Commerce, Inc. (“Asian E-Commerce”), a corporation that
is 50%-owned by a non-controlling stockholder of the Company. Pursuant to the FOPM SP
Agreement, the Company agreed to sell and Asian E-Commerce agreed to purchase the Company’s
remaining 24.27% equity interest in the FOPM Group for a consideration of PhP153.73 million. On
16 April 2021, the Company and Asian E-Commerce executed the relevant Deed of Absolute Sale of
Shares, The sale of the Company’s remaining equity interest in the FOPM Group resulted in the
derecognition of the Company’s investment in an associate: the FOPM Group. Total gain on sale of
investment in an associate amounted to PhP3.24 million.

On 6 September 2021, the Board of Directors approved the change in the Company’s corporate name
to Suntrust Resort Holdings, Inc. On 26 October 2021, the Company's stockholders also approved the
change in the Company’s corporate name. On 8 June 2022, the SEC approved the change in the
corporate name of the Company.

On 17 April 2023 and 15 June 2023, the Board of Directors and stockholders, respectively, approved
the change in the Company’s principal office address: from the 26" Floor Alliance Global Tower, 365
Street comer |1™ Avenue, Uptown Bonifacio, Taguig City 1634 to the 8" Floor Newport
Emenainment and Commercial Centre, Newport Boulevard, Newpon Cybertourism Zone, Pasay City
1309. This change in principal office address requires SEC approval.

On 8 Jupe 2023, the Company entered into an eight (8)-vear non-syndicated Omnibus Loan and
Security Agreement (“OLSA™). consisting of a Loan Facility Agreement, a Mortgage Agreement. a
Security Agreement, a Surctyship Agreement, and a Project Accounts Agreement, with China Banking
Corporation (“China Bank"™), Fortune Noble, and Summit Ascent Investments Limited (“SA
Investments™), among others. The OLSA was subsequently amended on 26 July 2023, Under the
OLSA, an intercst-hearing secured senior loan facility of up to PhP23,000.000,00{k00 was made
available to the Company (the “Loan Facility™), subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, the
proceeds of which shall be used to partially finance the costs for the design, development, and
construction of the Main Hotel Casino. The Loan Facility is subject to interest based on a five (5 )-vear
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(2)

BWVAL reference rate plus an agreed interest premium factor subject to repricing after five (5) years.
The Company is required to maintain certain financial ratios, including maintenance debt-to-equity
ratio and maintenance debt service coverage ratio starting 2026 and project debt-to-equity ratio after
the initial loan drawdown. All assets of the Company as of 31 December 2023 and material contracts
entered into by the Company m relation to the construction of the Main Hotel Casino are being held
as security. As of 31 December 2023, the Company had drawn PhPE,700,000,000.00 from the Loan
Facility after completion of certam project milestones required under the OLSA.

On 25 September 2023 and 31 October 2023, the Beard of Directors and stockholders, respectively,
approved the (i) increase in the Company’s ACS from PhP23.000.000.000.00 divided into
23000000000 common shares at PhPLOO per share to PhP2E.000.000.000.00 divided inlo
28.000,000,000 common shares at PhP 10O per share, and (11) amendment of the Company s secondary
purposes to include retail activities. The foregoing must be approved by the SEC.

Business of Issuer

From a holding company with investments in stocks, the Company has shifted its business focus to
tourism development o take advantage of investment opportunities that will vield auractive returns.

On 28 October 2019, it entered into a Co-Development Agresment with Westside. Under the Co-
Development Agreement. the Company shall finance the development and construction and would be
appointed as the exelusive service provider lo manage the operations of a five-star hotel and casino
establishment, i.e., the Main Hotel Casino, over certain parcels of land located at the Manila Bayshore
Integrated City (also known as the Entertainment City) in Parafiague City (the “Project Site™), Under
the Co-Development Agreement, the Company will enter into # Lease Agreement over the Project Site
{the “Lease Agreement”) with Westside and Travellers International Hotel Group, Inc. (“Travellers™)
and an Operation and Management Agreement (the “O&M Agreement™) with Westside for the
operation and management of the Main Hotel Casino. The Lease Agreement was entered into on 21
February 2020 and has an original term of until 14 August 2039, rencwable automatically for another
25 vears, subject to applicable laws and the renewal of the lease between Westside and Navong Pilipino
Foundation (“Nayong Pilipino”). The O&M Agreement was signed on 4 May 2020 and has a term of
until 11 July 2033, and shall be sutomatically extended or renewed unless earlier terminated in
accordance with its provisions,

The Main Hotel Casino will have 475 luxury hotel rooms and suites, a pool deck. spa. state-of-the-art
wellness center with views ol the Manila Bay sunset, a ballroom capable ol accommuodating 550 peaple
with support facilities such as meeting rooms and a bridal room, a 1,000-seat and two (2) 800-seat
theaters, a grand opera house, a 3.000-scat performing arts theater, a mall composed of lood and
beverages and refail units and four (4) cinemas, and a parking facility with over 1,000 slots. At opening,
the casino establishiment will have 281 gaming tables, 1,126 slot machines. and 134 electronic 1able
games for both the mass and VIP markets.

As of 31 December 2023, structural works and the construction of the tower facade up to roof-level
had been completed (except the facade at the middle portion of sky bridge). The major mechanical,
electrical, and plumbing equipment have heen delivered to the construction site and are undergoing
installation. Architectural and fit-out works and external civil works are in progress. Management aims
to commence the operations of the Main Hotel Casino in the first quarter of 20235,

Suntrust Resort Holdings, Ine. 7
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(3)

(4)

(3)

(6)

(7

Competition

The Main Hotel Casino is currently in the construction phase and 1s expected to commence operations
in the first quarter of 2025, It may be expected that the Main Hotel Casino is going to face significant
competition in the Philippines and clsewhere in Asia,

There are three (3) hotel and casine facilities currently operating within the Entertainment City where
the Project Site is located. These facilities are already open to the public and are operated by existing
paming licensees of the Philippine Amusement and Gaming Corporation (“"PAGCOR”). PAGCOR
also operates other gaming facilines (and satellite gaming facilities which are smaller casinos and slots
clubs) across the Philippimes.

Dependence on a Single or Few Customers

The Company’s business is not dependent upon a single or a few customers or tenants the loss of whom
will have a material adverse effeet on the Company.

Transactions with and/or Dependence on Related Parties

The Company's policy with respect to related party transactions is to ensure that these transactions are
entered into under terms comparable to those extended to third parties, on an arm’s length basis, and
will not be prejudicial to the Company’s stockholders and other stakeholders,

Westside, with whom the Company executed the Co-Development Agreement, the Lease Agreement,
and the O&M Agreement, is a subsidiary of Travellers, a related party to Megaworld, Megaworld is a
principal stockholder of the Company,

Additionally. the Company entered into transactions with related parties in the normal course of
business, mcluding advances from related parties for working capital purposes and for the settlernent
of certain liabilities. Major related party transactions in the ordinary course of business have been
disclosed and discussed in the Notes to the Audited Financial Statements and other portions thereof as
well as elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Intellectual Property

As of the date of this Annual Report, the Company does not hold any patent, trademark, copyright.
license, franchise, concession, or royalty agreenent upon which its operations are dependent,

Effect of Government Regulations on the Business
There will be a casino in the Main Hotel Casino,

The operation of casinos in the Philippines is a regulated activity under the auspices of the PAGCOR.
The PAGCOR is a government-owned and controlled corporation responsible for the licensing and
monitoring of casinos in the Philippines and the enforcement of relevant laws affecting gaming
operations. Every casino has to obtain a valid license from the PAGCOR for the operation of its gaming
activities.

Suntrust Resort Holdings, Ine, 8
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(8)

%

The PAGCOR has granted a Provisional License to Travellers and Westside, authorizing them to
operate casinos and o enter into any agreement for the operation and/or management of the same
without need for prior written approval of the PAGCOR, provided that (1) such agreement will not
result in the assignment, transfer, sale. lease, or subleasing of the Provisional License, and (ii) the
appointed casino manager or operator, i1 a juridical entity, is registered with the SEC and not included
in PAGCOR s list of banned personalities.

Under the Anti-Money Laundering Act, as amended. and the Casino Implementing Rules and
Regulations, among other anti-money laundering rules and regulations, casino operators are deemed
as “covered persons.” Covered persons under the Anti-Money Laundering Act are subject to certain
obligations, including reportorial requirements. For instance, casino operators are required to conduct
strict customer due diligence. They must also report suspicious transactions (as defined under the law)
and single transactions involving an amount in excess of PhP35.000.000.00 or its equivalent in foreign
currency to the Anti-Money Laundering Couneil.

Research and Development

The Company has not devoted a significant percentage of its funds for research and development in
the past three (3) years, Except for the construction of the Main Hotel Casino, there are no new products
or design being developed that will require a material amount of the Company’s resources.

Compliance with Environmental Laws

The Company carried out an Environmental Impact Assessment in relation to its application [or an
Environmental Compliance Certificate for the Westside City Phase 1 Project. The Environmental
Management Bureau for the National Capital Region of the Department of Environment and Natural
Resources issued the Environmental Compliance Certificate on 2 September 2021,

In relation to the construction of the Main Hotel Casing, the Company is complying and will continue
to comply with statutory requirements of the National Government, concemned Local Government
Lnits, and other government agencies intended to mitigate the adverse environmental impact, if any,
of the project to the Project Site and (o ensure that pollution generated by construction activities are
kept within governmental standards.

The Company has incurred costs to comply with environmental laws, particularly costs in relation to
securing government permits and clearances in relation to the construction of the Main Hotel Casino.

(10) Number of Employees

The Group has 122 employees as at 31 December 2023, None of the Company’s employees are
represented by a labor union or are subject to a collective bargaining agreement. As of the date of this
Annual Report, the Group is not involved in any labor dispute.

Considering the Company’s focus in tourism development. it is expected to hire additional employees
to support the development, construction, and operations of its tourism-related businesses.
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(11) Major Business Risks

The Company is exposed to a variety of financial risks in relation 1o financial instruments that it holds
under its investment portfolio, The Company’s risk management is coordinated with its Board of
Directors and it focuses on actively secuning short to medium-term cash flows by minimizing the
exposure to financial markets. The Company does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets
for speculative purposces nor does it write options, Except for short-term placements, the Company has
no material financial investments as of 31 December 2023,

Potential risks in relation to construction and development of the Main Hotel Casino include:
No divect operating history

The Main Hotel Casino is currently in the construction phase and is expected to commence operations
in the first quarter of 2025, The Company may face adverse changes in the business environment,
cconomy, and/or applicable laws and regulations. [ these risks are not managed successfully, it could
have o material and adverse effect on the results of operations, financial performance, and business of
the Main Hotel Casino,

Suppdy of raw nurterials/delay in consiruction

As the Main Hotel Casino is currently in the construction phase, it is susceptible to risks associated
with shortages in the supply and increases in the prices of construction materials such as lumber, steel,
and cement. Construction, equipment, stafling, and difficulties in obtaining requisite licenses, permits,
and authorization from the Government could increase the total cost, delay project completion, and/or
affect the design and features of the Main Hotel Casino.

The Main Horel Casing may foce infense competition in the Philippines and elsewhere in Asia

The Company expects competition in the Philippines to be intense as multiple integrated resort-casino
prajects have been approved and/or currently operating in the Philippines. The Entertainment City,
where the Project Site is located, is continuously being developed into a casino hub in Manila, Further,
hotel, casino, and entertainment complex projects may also be approved clsewhere in the Philippines
and in Asia. Competitive pressures in the Philippine gaming industry could affect the Main Hotel
Casino’s business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Sensitivity ro ceononilce dowirtuen, cconomic wncertainty, and otfer factors affecting discretionary
consteiter spending

Demand for luxury services, gaming-related services, and lelsure activities are sensitive to global
economic downtum, Changes in discretionary consumer spending or consumer preferences could be
driven by economic conditions, Any reduction in consumer demand for gaming-related services could
affeet the Maim Hotel Casino’s business.

The ability 1o attract and retain a sufficient mumber of gualified emplovees to run the operation
The Main Hotel Casine will depend on its ability to aitract and retain a sufficient number of qualified

employees to run the operations and the facilities of the Main Hotel Casino. The ability to maintain its
competitiveness is dependent on the efforts, skills, and continued service of kev management and
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operating personnel to a large extent, The loss of key management and operating personnel could have
an adverse impact on the Main Hotel Casino’s business.

Risks associated with gaming activities

The gaming industry is characterized by the element of chance. In addition to the element of chance,
theoretical expected win rates are also afTected by other factors, including players™ skills and
experience, the financial resources of players, the volume of bets placed by the players, and the amount
of time spent on gaming by plavers, These factors, alone or in combination, have the potential 1o
negatively impact win rates. As a result, actual win rates may differ greatly over short time penods,
including from guarter 1o quarter, and could cause the results of operations of the Main Hotel Casino
to be volatile. Players could also commit fraud or attempt to cheat to increase winnings by using
counterfeit currency, chips, or other tacties. Failure to discover such acts in a timely manner could
result in operational losses.

The gaming industry is also susceptible to money laundering and other illegal activities, 1T strict
controls are not implemented. incidents of money laundering and other illegal activities could occur.

Ttem 2. Properties

The Company's principal office based on its AOI, as amended, is at the 26" Floor Alliance Global Tower.
36" Street corner 11™ Avenue, Uptown Bonifacio, Taguig City 1634, Megaworld is the owner of the office
space and it is allowing the Company (o use the same without the payment of rent,

The Main Hotel Casino is being constructed on the Project Site. The Company (as lessee) entered into a
Lease Agreement with Westside and Travellers (as lessors) over the Project Site. The Lease Agreement
provides for an original term of until 19 August 2039, renewable automatically for another 25 years, subject
to applicable laws and the renewal of the lease between Westside and Nayong Pilipino. Further renewal or
extension may be agreed upon by the parties. After the commencement of the operations of the Main Hotel
Casino, the annual rent will be in the amount of USDI0L600,000.00, exclusive of the applicable value-
added tax ("VAT™), pavable in two (2) installments or on a semi-annual basis (or every six months), In the
event ol non-payment of the annual rent on the due date, the Company will be liable to pay an interest
penalty equivalent to one percent ( 1%4) per month plus surcharge equivalent to one percent ( 1%) per month
of the unpaid amount. The Company may assign or transfer its rights under the Lease Agreement and
sublease all or any part of the Project Site with the prior approval of Westside and Travellers (except that
notice shall be sufficient if the assignee, transferee, or sublessee is a subsidiary of the Company) and has
the right of tirst refusal, subject to relevant laws, in the event that the Project Site is sold,

ltem 3, Legal Proceedings

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries are involved in any
material litigation, arbitration, or similar proceedings, and is not aware of any such proceedings pending or
threatened against them or any their properties, which are or might be material,

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

The following matters were voted upon by the stockholders during the Annual Meeting of the Company’s
Stockholders held on 31 October 2023 (the 2023 Annual Meeting™):
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«  Approval of the Minutes of the Annual Stockholders” Meeting held on 25 Oclober 2022 (the “2022
Annual Meeting”) and Minutes of the Special Stockholders’ Meeting held on 15 June 2023

=  Ratification of acts, resolutions, and decisions of the Board of Directors and Management, as well as
all contracts and transactions entered into by the Company, since the 2022 Annual Meeting;

Election of directors for the ensuing year;
Confirmation of the changes to the Company’s BL previously approved by the stockholders during the
2022 Annual Meeting;

o Subject to the approval of the SEC, the addition of retail activities to the purposes of the Company and
amendment of the Second Article of the Company’s AOL 1o implement such addition:

o«  Subject to the approval of the SEC. mcrease in the Company’s ACS from PhP23,000.000.000.00
divided mnto 23 000,000, (00 common shares at PhPLOD per share to PhP2ZE.O00,000,000.00 divided
inta 28,000,000.000 common shares at PhP1.00 per share, and amendment of the Seventh Article of
the Company’s AOI for the purpose; and

o Appointment of Punongbayan and Araulle (Grant Thornton) (“Punongbayan™) as the Company's
external auditor for the ensuing year.

Mo proxies were solicited by the Company for the 2023 Annual Meeting. The matters approved during the
2023 Annual Meeting were reported to the SEC via SEC Form 17-C [Current Report] on 31 October 2023,

PART Il - OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 5. Market for Issuer’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters
{1} Securitics
0m shares

The Compiny has an ACS of PhP23,000,000,000.00 divided into 23,000,000,000 common shares with
a par value PhP1.00 per share.

The total issued and subscribed capital stock of the Company as of 29 February 2024 was
PRET, 250,000,000 00 divided into 7,230,000,000 common shares with a par value of PhPL.OO per
share. As of the date of this Annual Report, only 4,550,000.,000 shares are listed on the PSE. The
Company applied for listing of the remaining 2. 700,000,000 shares on 3 January 2024, The application
is currently pending with the PSE.

Convertible Bonds

{a) Convertible Bond Amounting to PhP7 300,000,000.00 (the “PhP7.3 Billion CB™) lssued in Favor
of Forlune Noble

Upon completion of the conditions precedent stipulated in the Subscription Agreement dated 29
May 2020 between the Company and Fortune Noble, the Company issued in favor of Fortune
MNable the PhP7.3 Billion CB on 30 December 2020, Fortune Noble can exercise its conversion
right under the PhP7.3 Billion CB any time immediately after the date of issuance up to maturity
date. The PhP7.3 Billion CB will mature on the fifth (3") anniversary of the issue date thereof,
which may be extended by the parties such that it falls on the tenth (10") anniversary instead.
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Subject to adjustments, the conversion price is PhP1.10 per one (1} common share of the
Company,

On 26 July 2023, the PhP7.3 Billion CB was supplemented to align its terms with the OLSA, to
wil;

(i) The conversion right in favor of Fortune Noble shall not be exercised for as long as the loans
under the OLSA remain outstanding, except when the written consent of China Bank is
secured or at least 753% of the outstanding loans under the OLSA have been repaid;

(1) Subordination of the loan under the PhP7.3 Billion CB to the loans under the OLSA;

(1) Undertaking not o dispose nor creale any lien or encumbrance on the bonds until the loans
under the OLSA are fully paid. except when expressly allowed under the OLSA; and

{iv) Undertaking on the part of Fortune Moble to extend the maturity of the PhP7.3 Billion CB 1o

2050,

Il Fortune Noble opts not 1o convert, the loan under the PhP7.3 Billion CB will become a debt
payable by the Company to Fortune Noble, the payment of which shall be subject to the above
newly agreed terms,

On 11 December 2020, the SEC confirmed that the PhP7.3 Billion CB is exempt from the
registration requirement under the Securities Regulation Code,

(k) Convertible Bond Amounting to PhPS,600,000,000.00 {the “PhP5.6 Billion CB™) Issued in Favor
of 34 Investments

Upon completion of the conditions precedent stipulated in the Subscription Agreement dated |
June 2020 between the Company and SA Investments, the Company issued in favor of SA
Investments the PhP5.6 Billion CB on 30 December 2020, 5A Investments can excrcise ifs
conversion right under the PhP5.6 Billion CB any time immediately afier the date of issuance up
to maturity date. The PhP5.6 Billion CB will mature on the fifth (5") anmiversary of the issue date
thereof, which may be extended by the parties such that it falls on the tenth (10") anniversary
instead. Subject to adjustments, the conversion price is PhP1.80 per one (1) common share of the
Company.

On 26 July 2023, the Company and SA Investments entered into an agreement supplementing the
PhP5.6 Billion CB for the purpose of aligning its terms with the OLSA. The effectivity of the
agreement was conditioned upon the obtention by SA Investments of the approval of its
independent stockholders. which was secured on 13 September 2023, The supplement introduced
the following changes to the PhP5.6 Billion CB:

(1) The conversion right in favor of SA Investments shall not be exercised for as long as the
loans under the OLSA remain outstanding, except when the written consent of China Bank
is secured or at least 75% of the outstanding loans under the OLSA have been repaid; and

(i1) Subordination of the lean under the PhP5.6 Billion CB to the leans under the OLSA,

If 5A Tnvestments opts not to convert, the loan under the PhP5.6 Billion CB will become a debt
payable by the Company to SA Investments, the payment of which shall be subject to the above
newly agreed terms,
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On 11 December 2020, the SEC confirmed that the PhP5.6 Billion CB is exempt from the
registration requirement under the Securities Regulation Code,

{c) Convertible Bond Amounting to PhP6.400,000,000.00 (the “PhP6.4 Billion CB") lssued in Favor
of 5A Investments

Upen completion of the conditions precedent stipulated in the Subsceription Agreement dated 20
September 2021 between the Company and SA Investments, the Company issued in favor of SA
[nvestments the PhPo.4 Billion CB on 10 June 2022, 8A Investments can exercise its conversion
right under the PhP6.4 Billion CB any time immediately after the date of 1ssuance up to maturity
date. The PhP5.6 Billion CB will mature on the third (3") anniversary of the issue date thereof,
which may be extended by the parties such that it falls on the sixth (6'™) anniversary instead.
Subject to adjustments. the conversion price is PhP1.65 per one (1) common share of the
Company.

On 26 July 2023, the Company and SA Investments entered into an agreement supplementing the
PhP6.4 Billion CB for the purpose of aligning its terms with the OLSA. The effectivity of the
agreement was conditioned upon the obtention by SA Investments of the approval of its
independent stockholders, which was secured on 13 September 2023, The supplement introduced
the following changes to the PhP6.4 Billion CB:

(1) The conversion right in favor of SA Investments shall not be exercised for as long as the
loans under the OLSA remain outstanding, except when the written consent of China Bank
15 secured or at least 75% of the outstanding loans under the OLSA have been repaid. and
(i1} Subordination of the loan under the PhP6.4 Billion CB to the loans under the OLSA.

ITSA Investments opts not to convert, the loan under the PhPo.4 Billion CB will hecome a debt
payable by the Company to SA Investments, the payment of which shall be subject to the above
newly agreed terms,

On 7 June 2022, the SEC confirmed that the PhP5.6 Billion CB is exempt from the registration
requitement under the Securities Regulation Code.

{d) Subsecription (“2023 Subscription Agreement”) for Convertible Bond Amounting 1o
PRPI3.511.100.000.00 (“PhP13.5 Billion CB") between the Company and 5A Investments

On 26 July 2023, the Company and SA Investments entered ito the 2023 Subscription Agreement
pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue and SA Investments conditionally agreed to
subscribe for the PhPI3.5 Billion CB in the aggregate subscription price equivalent to
PhP13,511,100,000.00 (the “PhP13.5 Billion CB Subscription Price™), The PhP13.5 Billion CB
Subscription Price of the PhP13.5 Billion CB pertains to the aggregate of the outstanding amounts,
inclusive of principal and accrued interest, under the PhP5.6 Billion CB and PhP6.4 Billion CB,

The PhP13.3 Billion CB shall be issued upon the satisfaction or waiver of certain conditions
precedent on or before 30 April 2024 (the “Long Stop Date™) such as obtaining regulatory
appravals for the 1ssuance of the PhP13.5 Billion CB, securing stockholder approval of the 2023
Subscription Agreement, the set-off, and other transactions contemplated therein, and obtaining
approval for the interest waiver. among others. If any of the conditions precedent are not satisfied
or (as the case mayv be) not waived by SA Investments on or before the Long Stop Date, the 2023
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Subseription Agreement shall be terminated and the parties to the same shall be released and
discharged from their respective obligations therein. Otherwise, the 2023 Subscription Agreement
and the PhP13.5 Billion CB shall supersede the subscription agreements entered into by the
Company with SA Investments in 2021 and 2020, the PhP5.6 Billion CB. and the PhP6.4 Billion

CB.

Below are the material terms of the PhP13.5 Billion CB:

il Term Details

I | Principal Amount Up to a maximum of approximately
PhP13.511,100,000.00

2 | Interest None _ _

3 | Maturity Date Date falling on the eighth (8") anniversary of

the issue date, which may be extended to the

date falling on the tenth (10™) anniversary of

the issue date, or the first business day if such

date 1s not business day

4 | Conversion Each holder has the right to convert into fully

paid shares of the Company any time during

the Conversion  Period  subject to the

Conversion Condition

5 | Conversion Price PhPL1.10

6 | Conversion Period Period commencing from the day immediately

following the issue date up to 4:00 PM on the

Maturity Date

7 | Conversion Condition o  Conversion right can only be exercised if
at least 75% of the outstanding loans
under the OLSA have been repaid

*  The shares will in all respects rank pary
passu with the shares of the Company
then in issue, including any rights to
distributions or other payments which
may thereafter be declared, made. or paid
rom time o time by the Company

% | Conversion Restriction Conversion rights will only attach if it is

confirmed that the allotment and issue of the

conversion shares will not cause the Company

to be in breach of the relevant minimaom public

float requirement under the relevant rules of

the PSE, which is currently 10%

9 | Underlying Shares Apggrepgate of 12,282 859,277 shares

Upon issuance of the PhP13.5 Billion CB. the PhP13.5 Billion CB Subscription Price will be
applied by the Company to redeem the PhP5.6 Billion CB and the PhP6.4 Billion CB8 by way of
setting off the amount due to SA Investments from the Company in full or in part. Any shortfall
shall be paid by the Company in cash to SA lnvestmenis. The Company and 5A Investments will
execule a set-off deed for this purpose.
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As of the date of this Annual Report, the conditions for the issuance of the PhP13.5 Billion CB
have not been met. The Company is in the process of applying for SEC confirmation that the
PhP13.5 Bilion CB 15 an exempt transaction under Section 10.1¢k) of the Securities Regulation
Code.

Recent Sale of Unregistered or Exempl Securitics

Except for those exempt from the registration requirement under the Securities Regulation Code. no
sales of unregistered securities were made in the past three (3) years, No debt securities were registered
nor contemplated to be registered.

(2) Market Information
The Company’s shares are traded on the PSE.

The trading prices of the Company’s common shares listed on the PSE for each quarter within the last
two (2) years are set (orth below:

Year First Second Third Fourth
2023 Hich L.0g Lol 0.92. (1,90
Low (L83 .84 0.73 (373
2022 Hieh .13 LO7 L12 .05
Low (.84 .87 0,95 0,90

The closing price of the Company’s commaon shares as of 29 February 2024 was PhP0.80 per share.

{3) Holders

Based on the report of the stock transfer agent for the period ended 29 February 2024, the Company

had a total of 1,585 stockholders of record, broken down as follows:

Stockholder’s Name No. of Shares Percentage of
Ownership
PCD Nominee Corporation { Moo-Filipino) 3717203687 51.272%
Megaworld Corporation 2,177,165 008 30.030%
PCD Nominee Corporation (Filipino) 732 488 688* 10, 103%
Aurora Securities, Inc, (“Aurora Securities™) 272,834,992 3.763%
Megaworld Corporation 260,000,000 3.586%
The Andresons Group, Inc. 43957000 0.634%
EBC PCI TA No. 203-33106-3 17000000 0.234%
Lucio L. Co 4082563 0.056%
Joaguin Eugenio Matthew 5. Chipeco I11 | 600,000 0.022%
Genevigve Go 1 3000 (M0 0.018%
Stanley Ho Hung Sun I 100,000 0.015%
Romulo P. Ney 555,00 0. (08%,

YOt of the 3,717,203,687 shares registered under POCD Nomince Corporation (Non-Filipino ), 3,697, 4949.99% shares are held by

China Bank Securities Corporation (“CB Seeurities") for heir ultimate bereficial owner, Forlune Noble.

0wt of the 732 488,688 sharcs registered under PCD Nominee Corporation (Filipina), 27 834,992 shares are held by Awrora

Secunties for ther ultimate beneficial owner, Megaworld,
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Stockholder's Name

Mo, of Shares

Percentape of

Ownership

Larcy Marichi Y. 50 and/or Hanson &G, S0 513,700 0,007 %
Yap Sik Kicong S00,000 0.007%
Luciano H. Tan 500, () 0.006%
Pablo M, Silva 437 499 0.006%,
Hunson G. So 400,000 (L0065
Jaime Dy and/or Juliet Dy 300,000 (L0064
Francis L. Dy and/or Ingred S. 385,500 0.005%
Peter Ty 357,000 0.005%
Others’ 13,270,363 (.211%

Total 7,250, 000,000 100%

The public float of the Company as of 31 December 2023 was 14.33%.

(4) Background of Shareholders Owning At Least 10% of the Total Outstanding Stock
Title of Name and Address of Name of Beneficial Owner Citizenship No, of Ownership
Class Record Owner and and Relationship with Shares Held | Percentage
Relationship with Issuer Record Owner
Common | PCD Nominee PCD Nominee Corporation, a | Non-Filipine | 3,717,203.687 51.272%
Corporation whally owned subsidiary of the
{MNon-Filipino) PDTC, is the registered owner
of the shares in the books of the
29" Floor BDO Equitable Company's  stock  transfer
Tower, 8731 Paseo de apent,
Roxas, Makati City,
Philippines Ouw  of the 3717203687
shares registered under PCD
Stockholder of record for Mominee Corporation (Non-
shares lodged with the Filipino), 3,697,499 998
Philippine Depository and | shares, representing 51% of the
Trust Corporation, Inc. Company’s capital stock, are
(“PDTC™) benelicially owned by Fortune
Naoble. The remaining
19,703,689 shares are held by
various trading participants of
the PDTC.
Common | Megaworld Corporation | The  parent  company  of Filiping 2.437,1635,008" 33.616%

30" Floor Alliance Global
Tower., 36" Street corner
11" Avenue, Uptown
Bonifacio, Taguig City,
Philippines

Megaworld s Alliance Global
Group, Ine. i“Alliance
Global™).

Mr. Andrew L. Tan (“Mr.
Tan™) has the power to direct

T Remaning 1 5635 stockholders,
* The shares of Megaworld comprise of (1) 2437, 165,008 dircctly held common shoares and (0] 278349492 commaon shares
indireetly held throush Aurors Securities and recorded under PCD Nominee Corporation (Filiping).
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Title of Name and Address of Name of Beneficial Owner Citizenship No. of Ownership
Class Record Owner and and Relationship with Shares Held | Percentage
Relationship with Issuer Record Owner
the voting and disposition of
Substantial stockholder the shares held by Megaworld
in the Company,
Common PCD Nominee PCD Nominee Corporation, a Filipino 732,448,684 10, 103%
Corporation (Filipino) wholly owned subsidiary of the
PDTC, is the registered owner
29" Floor BDO Equitable | of the shares in the books of the
Tower, 8751 Paseo doe Company’s  stock  transfer
Roxas, Makati City, agent. The beneficial owner of
Philippines such shares entitied to vete the
same are PDTC’s participants
Stockholder of record for who hold the shares either in
shares lodged with the their own behalf or on behalf of
PDTC | their clients.
(5) Dividends

Due to lack of unrestricted retained carnings, the Company did not declare any dividends in the last
two (2) calendar years.

The Company is authorized to distribute dividends out of its surplus profit, in cash, propertics of the
Company. shares of stock, and/or securities of other companies belonging to the Company, Dividends
paid in the form of cash or property are subject to approval of the Board of Directors. Dividends paid
in the form of additional shares are subject to the approval of the Board of Directors and stockholders
that own at least two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock of the Company. In case the stock
dividends will be coming from an increase in authorized capital stock, such declaration shall be subject
to SEC approval. Holders of outstanding common shares as of a dividend record date will be entitled
to full dividends declared without regard to any subsequent transfer of such shares,

The Revised Corporation Code prohibits stock corporations from retaining surplus profits in excess of
100% of their paid-in capital, except when justified by definite corporate expansion projects or
programs approved by the Board of Directors, or when the corporation is prohibited under any loan
agreement with any financial institution or creditor from declaring dividends without its consent, and
such consent has nol yet been secured, or when it can be clearly shown that such retention 15 necessary
under special circumstances obtaining in the corporation.

Item 6. Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Plan of Operation

{1y As of the Calendar Year Ended 31 December 2023
Results of Operations for the 12 Months Ended 31 December 2023,
Compared to the 12 Months Ended 31 December 2022
The total revenues of the Company exhibited an increase of PhP53.43 million or
404,899, 83% from PhPO.O] million in 2022 to 33 44 million in 2023,
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Costs and expenses decreased by PhP 15557 million or 27.93% from PhP557.07 million in 2022
to PhP40L.50 million in 2023,

The Group incurred a net loss in 2023 amounting to PhP345.10 million from the previous year’s
net loss of PhP557.10 million or a PhP20Y.00 million decrease.

Total current assets increased by PhP3,215 24 million or 214.83% from PhP2,427.65 million in
2022 to 7.642 89 million m 2023,

Total non-current assets increased by PhPE.400.40 million or 28.87% from PhP29.093.66 million
in 2022 10 3749406 million in 2023,

Taotal current liabilities decreased by PhP386.93 million or 44.49% from PhI'1.319. 1% million in
2022 1o PhP732.25 million in 2023,

Total non-current liabilities inereased by PhP13,176.25 million or 60.76% [from PhP21,687.14
million in 2022 to PhP34.863.39 million in 2023.

Equity increased by PhPL026.32 million or 12,05% from PhPE.514.99 million in 2022 to
PhP9.541.31 million in 2023,

Material Changes in the ltems of the Financial Statements,
Increase/Decrease of 5% or More versus 31 December 2022

This results in major decreases in accounts in the financial statements of the Company except
tor below,

Cash inereased by PhP4.729.75 million or 366.19% due to proceeds from bank borrowings
and loans from relaied parties to finance the development and construction of the Main Hotel
Casino. Total proceeds from bank borrowings and loans from related parties for the year
amounted to PhPE, 740000 million and PhP1,731.95 million, respectively, for the vear ended
December 31, 2023,

Prepayments and other current assets increased by PhP485.49 million or 42.74%, mainly due to
input VAT recognized in relation to construction costs of the Main Hotel Casino.

Property and equipment and prepayments and deposits for property and equipment increased by
PhPE418.17 million or 35.04% and PhPEIE.T] million or 4833, respectively, which
substantially represent construction-in-progress in relation to the construction of the Main Hotel
Casino.

Right-of-use asset (“ROUA™) decreased by PhP836.49 million or 6.21% mainly due to
amortization of ROUA duning the year, while lease liabilities increased by PhP78.46 million or
1.28% due to the recognition of amortized interest for the vear. The decrcase is partly due to the
remeasurement of lease liability and ROUA in 2023,
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Trade and other payables decreased by PhP120,75 million or 19.83% mainly due to the accrual
of interest payable of bank borrowings as at 31 December 2023,

Convertible bonds payable increased by PhPL1.292.42 million or 5.55% which represents
recognition of amortized interest for the year,

Due to related parties inereased by PhP753.89 million or 106.15% which represents interest on loans
from related parties for the vear ended December 31, 2023,

Other payables increased by PhP373.51 million or 88.68% which represents amounts retained
from construction-related payments to vendors which are payable upon the end of the retention
period.

Revenues increased by PhP53.43 million or 404 899.83% and cost and expenses reduced by
PhP155.57 million or 27.93% which substantially represents the impact of foreign exchange rate

changes on foreign-denominated lease liabilities,

Eey Performance Indicators

Presented below are the top five (5) key performance indicators of the Group:

31 December 2023 | 31 December 2022
Current Ratio *1 10.44:1.00 1.84:1.00
Quick Ratio *2 2.22:1.00 0.95:1.00
Debt-to-Equity Ratio *3 3.73. 100 2.70:1.00
Return on Assets *4 -0.91% -39 _
Return on Equity *5 -3.86% -6.79% |

*1 — Current Assets/Curvent Liabilities

2 — Ouick Assets (Current Assets less Other Current Assets)/Current
Liabilities

*3 — Toral Liabilities/Eguity

4 — Ner Profit {Loss)iAveraoe Total Assety

*5 = Net Profit (Loss)Averape Equity

There are no other significant changes in the financial position (5% or more) and condition of the
Group that will warrant a more detailed discussion. Further, there are no material events and
uncertainties known to Management that will impact or change the Group's reported financial
information and condilion.

There are no known trends or demands, commitments, events, or uncertainties that will result in or
that are reasonably likely to result in increasing or decreasing the Group's liquidity in any material
way,

There are no other known events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is
currently considerad material to the Group, including any default or acceleration ol an obligation,
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The Group does not anticipate having any cash flow or liquidity problems. The Group is not in
default or in breach of any note, loan, lease, or other indebtedness or financing arrangement
requiring it to make payments. The Group has no material commitments for capital expenditures,

There are no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations, and other
relationships with unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting period.

The Group has no unusual nature of transactions or events that affect assets, liabilities, equity, net
meome, or cash lows.

There are no other material issuances, repurchases, or repayments of debt and equily securities.

There are no seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition or results of
operations of the Group.

There are no material events subsequent to the end of the penod that have not been reflected in
the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year 2023,

There are no changes in estimates of amounts reported in periods of the current financial vear
or changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior financial years,

(2) As of the Calendar Year Ended 31 December 2022
Results of Operations for the 12 Months Ended 31 December 2022,
Compared to the 12 Months Ended 31 December 2021
The total revenues of the Company exhibited a decrease of PhP3.59 million or 99.72% from
PhP3.60 million in 2021 to PhP0O.0O! million in 2022,
Costs and expenses exhibited an increase of PhP48.59 million or 9.536% from PhP308.47 million
in 2021 to PhP557.07 million in 2022,
The Group incurred a net loss in 2022 amounting to PhP357.05 million from the previous year’s
net loss of PhP5S04.88 million or a PhP32.17 million increase.
Financial Condition as of 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021
Total current assels decreased by PhP4.401.19 million or 64.45% from PhP6.828 84 million in
2021 to PhP2.427.65 million in 2022,
Total non-current assets increased by PhP5,237.08 million or 21.95% from PhP23,856.58 million
in 2021 to PhP29,093.66 million in 2022,
Total current liabilities decreased by PhP6,140.70 million or 82.32% from PhP7,459.88 million
in 2021 to PhP1,319.18 million in 2022,
Total non-current liabilities increased by PhPo 35044 million or 41.41% from PhP15336.70
million in 2021 to PhP21.687.14 million in 2022,
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Equity increased by PhP626.15 million or 7.94% from PhP7.888.84 million in 2021 to
PhPE,514.99 million in 2022,

Material Changes in the ltems of the Financial Statements,
Increase/Decrease of 5% or More versus 31 December 2021

This results in major decreases in accounts in the financial statements of the Company except
for below,

Cash decreased by PhP4.863.23 milhion or 79.01% due to payments of operating expenses
and construction costs in relation to the development and construction of the Main Hotel Casino.

Prepayments and other current asseis increased by PhP462.05 million or 68.55% mainly due 1o
input VAT recognized in relation to construction costs of the Main Hotel Casino,

Property and equipment and prepayments and deposits for property and equipment increased by
PhP6,439.92 million or 72.73% and PhP373.06 million or 28.24%, respectively, which
substantially represent construction-in-progress in relation to the construction of the Main Hotel
Casino.

ROUA decreased by PhP1.575,91 million or 11.52% mainly due to amortization of ROUA during
the year, while lease liabilities decreased by PhP45.04 million or 0.73% due to the recognition of
amortized interest for the yvear. The decrease 1s partly due to the remeasurement of lease hability
and ROUA in 2022,

Trade and other payables decreased by PhPI83.06 million or 23.11% mainly due to the timing of
payments of construction-related invoices as at 31 December 20232,

Convertible bonds payable increased by PhPG,IR5.92 million or 69.27% which represents the
issuance of PhP6.40 billion % convertible hond to SA Investments.

Other payables increased by PhPIRT.31 million or 80.09% which represents amounts retained
from construction-related pavments to vendors which are pavable upon the end of the retention

period.

Key Performance Indicators

Presented below are the top five (5) key performance indicators of the Group:

31 December 2022 | 31 December 2021
Current Ratio *1 1.84:1.04 0.92:1.00
Quick Ratio *2 0.98: 1.04 0,83:1.00
Debt-to-Equity Ratio *3 270 1.0 2.89:1.00
Return on Assets *4 -1.79% =1.90%
Return on Equity #5 =0,79%, | -6.23%

*] — Current Assets/Current Liabilities
2 — Ouick Assets (Curvent Assets less Other Current Assets)/Curvent
Liabifities
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(3)

*3 — Total Liahilities/Equity
*4 — Net Profit (Loss)/Average Total Assers
*3 — Net Prafit (Loss)/Average Egquity

There are no other signmificant changes m the Group’s financial position (5% or more) and
condition that will warrant a more detailed discussion. Further, there are no material events and
uncertainties known to Management that will impact or change the reported financial information
and condition of the Group,

There are no known trends or demands, commitments, events, or uncertainties that will result in or
that are reasonably likely to result in inercasing or decreasing the Group's liquidity in any material

WY,

There are no other known events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is
currently considered material to the Group. including any default or acceleration of an obligation.

The Group does not anticipate having any cash flow or liquidity problems. The Group is not in
default or in breach of any note, loan, lease or other indebtedness, or financing arrangement
requiring it to make payments. The Group has no material commitments for capital expenditures,
There are no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations, and other
relationships of the Group with unconsolidated entitics or other persons created during the

reporting period.

The Group has no unusual nature of transactions or events that affect assets, liabilities, equity. net
income, or cash flows.

There are no other material issuances, repurchases, or repayments of debt and equity securities.

There are no seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition or results of
operations of the Group.

There are no material events subsequent to the end of the period that have not been reflected in
the Consolidated Financial Statements for the vear 2022,

There are no changes in estimates of amounts reported in periods of the current financial year
or changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior financial years,

As of the Calendar Year Ended 31 December 2021

Results of Operations for the 12 Months Ended 31 December 2021,

Compared to the 12 Months Ended 31 December 2020

The total revenues of the Company exhibited a decrease of PhPL1.60 million or 76.34% from
PhP15.20 million in 2020 to PhP3.60 million in 2021.

Costs and expenses exhibited an increase of PhP281.73 million or 124.25% from PhP226.74
million in 2020 to PhP508.47 million in 2021,
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The Group incurred a net loss in 2021 amounting to PhP504.88 million from the previous vear's
net loss of PhP21 155 million or a PhP293.33 million increase.

Financial Condition as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020

Total current assets increased by PhPE94.40 million or 15.07% from PhP3,934.44 million in 2020
to PhP6. 828,84 million in 2021,

Total non-current assets increased by PhP7.297.05 million or 44.07% from PhP16.5339 53 million
in 2020 to PhP23.856.58 million in 2021,

Total current liabilities increased by PhP7,109.01 million or 2,026.06% from PhP350.88 million
in 2020 1o PhP7.459 88 million in 2021,

Total non-current liabilities increased by PhP1,5200.68 million or 11.01% from PhPI3.816.02
million in 2020 o PhP15,336.70 million in 2021,

Equity decreased by PhP438.23 million or 5.26% from PhPE327.07 million in 2020 to
PhP7,888.84 million in 2021,

Material Changes in the Ttems of the Financial Statements,
Increase/Decrease of 5% or More versus 31 December 2020

This results in major decreases in accounts in the [inancial statements of the Company except
for below,

Cash and cash equivalents increased by PhP277.23 million or 4.72% due to the proceeds from a
loan ebtained from SA Investments net of payment of operating expenses and construction costs
in relation to the development and construction of the Main Hotel Casino.

Due from a related party decreased by 100% due to account settlement of a related party.

Other current assets increased by PhP644.56 million or 2,189.59% mainly due to input VAT
recognized in relation to construction costs of the Main Hotel Casino.

Investment in an associate decreased by 100%, to nil after the sale of the 24.27%; interest in the
FOPM Group.

Property and equipment and prepayments and deposits for property and equipment increased by
PhP6_ 87843 million or 348.08% and PhP1320.98 million, respectively, which substantially
represent construction-in-progress in relation to the construction of the Main Hotel Casino.

ROUA decreased by PhPT48.62 million or 5.19% mainly due to amortization of ROUA during
the year, while lease liabilities increased by PhP576.84 million or 10.27% due to the recognition
ol amortized interest for the year and translation adjustment as at 31 December 2021,

Due to related parties increased by PhP400.66 million or 263.44% which represents interest
accrued on 8A Investment's convertible bonds and short-term loan amounting to PhP6,092.88
million.
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Trade and other payables increased by PhP5393.21 million or 298.40% mainly due to the unpaid
construction-related invoices as at 31 December 2021,

Convertible bonds payable increased by PhP732.23 million or 8.93% which represents the
recognition of amortized interest during the year,

Retention payable increased by PhP233.87 million from amounts retained from construction-
related payments to vendors which are payable upon the end of the retention period.

Key Performance Indicators

Presented below are the top five (5) key performance indicators of the Group:

31 December 2022 | 31 December 2021 I
Current Ratio *1 0.92:1.00 16.91:1.00 |
Quick Ratio *2 0.83:1.00 16.83:1.00
Debi-to-Equity Ratio *3 2.89: .00 1.70:1.00
Return on Assets *4 -1.90%% | -1.77%
Return on Equity *5 -0, 23% | -4.35% i

" — Current Asxets/Current Liahilities

*2 e Ok Assers (Curremt Asvets fess Other Current Assers)'Current
Liabilitics

*3 — Total Ligbilities/ Eguity

*4 — Net Profit (Loss)/Average Total Axveis

*35 — Net Profit (Loss)/Average Equity

There are no other significant changes in the Group’s financial position (5% or more) and
condition that will warrant a more detailed discussion. Further, there are no material events and
uncertainties known to Management that will impact or change the reported financial information
and condition of the Group.

There are no known trends or demands, commitments, events, or uncertainties that will result in
or that are reasonably likely to result in increasing or decreasing the Group's liquidity in any
material way,

There are no other known events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation
that 15 currently considered material to the Group, including any default or acceleration of an
obligation.

The Group does not anticipate having any cash flow or liquidity problems. The Group is not in
default or in breach of any note, loan, lease or other indehtedness, or financing arrangement
requiring it to make payments. The Group has no material commitments for capital expenditures.

There are no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations, and other
relationships of the Group with unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the
reporiing period.
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The Group has no unusual nature of transactions or events that affect assets, linbilities, equity. net
incomme, or cash Mows.

There are no other material issuances, repurchases, or repayments of debt and equity securities.

There are no seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition or results
ol operations of the Group,

There are no material events subsequent to the end of the period that have not been reflected in
the Consalidated Financial Statements for the year 2021,

There are no changes in estimates of amounts reported in periods of the current finaneial vear
or changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior financial vears,

Item 7. Financial Statements

Artached as Anmex A" is the Parent Company Audited Financial Statements of the Company as of and
for the year ended 31 December 2023, which inelude notes on the financial statements,

Attached as Annex “B" is the Consolidated Audited Financial Statements of the Group as of and for the
vear ended 31 December 2023, which include notes on the financial statements.

Item B. Information on Independent Accountant and Other Related Matters

The present external auditor of the Company, Punongbayan & Araullo (Grant Thormnton), was also the
external auditor of the Company for the years 2017 to 2022, There have been no disagreements with said
external auditor on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosures, and
auditing scope or procedure, which disagreements, if not resolved to their satisfaction, would have cavsed
the auditor to make reference thereto in s respective reports on the Company's financial statements for
aforementioned years.

The external auditor of the Company billed the amounts of PhP437.920.00 in 2023, PhP1.157,360.00 in
2022, and PhPLI73.000.00 in 2021 in fees for professional services rendered for the audit of the
Company’s annual financial statements and services that are normally provided by the external auditor in
connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements for 2022 and 2021, Non-audit services
rendered by the external auditor for 2023, 2022 and 2021 amounted to PhP5 10,640,060, PhP1.425 834,00,
and PhPE36,600.00, respectively, Except as disclosed above, no other services were rendered or fees billed
by the external auditor of the Company for 2023, 2022, and 2021. The plan for the audit of the Group's
financial statements for the yvear ended 31 December 2023 was approved by the Audit Committee.

The Board of Directors, after consultation with the Audit Committee, recommends to the stockholders the
engagement of the external auditor of the Company, The selection of external auditor is made on the basis
of credibility, professional reputation, accreditation with the SEC, and affiliation with a reputable foreign
partner. The professional fees of the external auditor of the Company are approved by the Company s Audit
Committee after approval by the stockholders of the engagement and prior to the commencement of each
audit scason,
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PART 11l - CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION
Item 9, Directors and Corporate Officers of the Issuer

The overall management and supervision of the Company is undertaken by the Board of Directors,
Currently, the Board of Directors consists of seven (7) members, of which two (2) are independent directors.
All the Directors were elected during the Company’s Annual Stockholders™ Mecting held on 31 October
2023, They shall hold office for one (1) year and until their successors are duly elected and qualified. Any
Director elected to fill a vacancy shall serve only for the unexpired term of histher predecessor in office.

Below are the incumbent Directors and corporate officers of the Company:”

Name Age Citizenship Puosition

Lo Kai Bong 44 Hong Kong  |Chairman of the Board of Directors

(Chua Ming Huat 61 Malaysian Director and President

Ferdinand B, Masi H2 Filipino Director

Neoli Mae L. Kho 39 Filipino Director and Treasurer

Atty. Alvin C. Go 62 Filipino Dhirector

Jesus B. Varela 67 Filipino Lead Independent Director

Eugenio B. Reducindo 54 Filipino Independent Director

Sutharshan Kandiah 54 Australian Chief Financial Officer

Nelileen S. Baxa 45 Filipino Corporate Secretary and Corporate
Information Officer

Maria Cristina D). Gonzales | 60 Filipino Compliance Officer

Atty. Maria Carla T. Uykim | 47 Filipino  Assistant C'orporate Secretary and
Assistant Corporate Information Olficer

(1) Background

Below are the detailed professional backgrounds and histories of the Company’s Directors and
corporate officers for at least the last five years;"

Lo Kai Bong, Chairman of the Board of Directors, 44 vears old. Chinese (Hong Kong)

He was first elected to the Board of Directors on 4 May 2021, He joined the LET Group, a company
listed on the HKEX, as Executive Director on @ March 2017. He was later appointed as Chairman of
the LET Group, with effect from 31 August 2022. He is involved in the development of the LET
Group's overscas husinesses. He is likewise responsible for the corporate management, mergers, and
acquisitions of the LET Group. On 12 December 2018, he was appointed as a Non-Executive Director
of Summit Ascent Holdings Limited (*SA Holdings™), a company also listed on the HKEX. Starting
26 April 2019, he served as Executive Director and Deputy Chairman of SA Holdings., On 31 Augusi
2022, he became the Chairman of SA Holdings. He has intensive business experience in the gaming
industry, He obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of Winnipeg in Canada.

7 Ages of irectors and corporate ofTicers oz of 26 March 2024,
i See footnote 7,
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Jesus B, Varela, Lead Independent Director, 67 vears old, Filipino

He was first elected 10 the Board of Directors on 26 October 2021, He concurrently serves as
Independent Director of Megaworld, Global-Estate Resorts, Ine. (“GERI™), Travellers, and MREIT,
Inc. (“"MREIT"). He is also Director-General of the International Chamber of Commerce of the
Philippines, a Board Regent of Unibersidad de Manila, a columnist at the Philippine Daily Tribune,
and President of the Erchwon Art Foundation, Mr. Varela has more than 20 years of experienee in the
fields of marketing, human resources. international labor affairs, agriculture, and commerce, among
others. He has done executive work for the Department of Apriculture, Mational Food Authoriry
Council. Philippine Genetics, Inc.. National Irrigation Administration, Philippine Planters Products,
MNational Agri- Business Corporation, Agriculiure Anti-Smuggling Task Foree, and Nautical Highway
Board. He served as Labor Attaché to Kobe, Japan. to the Commonwealth of Northern Marianas Island.
and to Athens. He attended training courses in Labor Administration and Policy Formulation under
the International Labor Organization/ ARPLA Program, the Corporate Planning Course at the Center
for Research Communication, Foreign Exchange Training by Metro Bank and Forex Club of the
Philippmes, Systems Analysis by the Presidential Management StafT, Asian Productivity Seminar, and
other in-house seminars conducted by the Department of Labor and Employment, and the
Development Academy of the Philippines. He was formerly the Chairman and Acting Chief Executive
Officer of GS1 Philippines, a Director of the Philippine Chamber of Commeree and Industry, and Vice
President of the Employers Confederation of the Philippines, Mr. Varela obtained his Bachelor’s
Degree in Economics from the Ateneo de Manila University in 1979,

Eugenio B, Reducindo, Independent Director, 54 years old, Filipino

He was first elected to the Board of Directors on 27 October 2015, He is concurrently serving as the
Managing Director of Choice Gourmet Bangquet, Inc. (“Cheice Gourmet™), which owns and operates
McDonald’s stores and used 10 operate other restaurants like Shanghai Bistro and SoHo Tea House.
He has held this position since 2007. As Managing Director, he is responsible for the overall operations
and management of 1% McDonald's outlets located within Metro Manila and other provinces such as
Cebu and loilo. Prior to being Managing Director, Mr. Reducindo was a Branch Manager at Choice
Gourmet handling the first McDonald's branch of the company located at Forbestown Center. He
worked for Golden Arches Development Corporation as Branch Manager, for MeDonald™s Egypl as
Operations Consultant, and for Makati Shangri-La as Assistant Manager for the coffee shop. He has
considerable experience in the management and operation of quick service and fine dining restaurants,
having been invelved in the daily operations of a specific branch, as well as the overall management
and operations of several branches/outlets, He graduated in 1989 from the Far Eastern University with
a Bachelor’s Degree in Communications,

Chua Ming Huat, Director and President, 61 vears old, Malaysian

He was first elected to the Board of Directors on 4 May 2021, He is likewise currently serving as a
Dircctor of Travellers, the developer and operator of the Newport World Resorts, He served as
Executive Director and Chiet Executive Officer of 5A Holdings in 2021. He also served as
director/officer in the following corporations: from June 2016 to July 2020, as Director of Global
Ferronickel Holdings, Inc.. from February 2015 to January 2017, as Independent Director of CIMB
Investment Bank Berhad. Malaysia; from September 2006 to February 2007, as Chief Operating
Officer of Genting Berhad ("Genting”); from May 2007 to January 2015, as President of (enting
Hong Kong Limited; and from July 2011 to March 2015, as Director of Norwegian Cruise Ling
Holdings Ltd. Prior to joining Genting. he held various positions in the investment banking business
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in Hong Kong, Singapore, and Malaysia for over 20 years. He also served as Director and member of
the Listing Committee of the MESDAQ market of Bursa Malaysia, He obtained a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Political Science and Economies from the Carleton University, Ottawa, Canada.

Ferdinand B, Masi, Director, 62 years old, Filipino

He has been connected with the Consolidated Distillers of the Far East, Inc, since 1983 and is currently
its General Manager. He is concurrently the Chairman and President of Good Earth Technologies
International, Inc., the Corporate Secretary of First Centro, Inc., serving as Senior Vice President and
General Manager of Progreen Agricorp, Tne., and as President of Southpoint Science Park Inc. He is a
Certified Public Accountant and member of the Philippine Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He finished his Master’s Degree in Business Administration from the Ateneo Graduate School of
Business.

Weoli Mae L. Kho. Director and Treasurer. 39 vears old. Filipino

She was first elected to the Board of Directors on 10 November 2017, She is concurrently the Vice
President for the Finance Division of FOPM, which handles the property management of various
residential and office developments of the Megaworld Group, a position she has held since April 2018,
She also serves as a Director of One World Center Building Administration, Inc., the Treasurer of
Eastwood City Estates Association. Ine., and a trustee and officer of over 40 condominium associations
and building administrations of Megaworld projects. She was a Manager at the Management Analyst
Group of Megaworld, where she was responsible for auditing and analyzing various transactions of
Megaworld and its group of companies and projects ranging from construction, marketing, land
acquisitions, and administration, In 2023, she was awarded the SPARK Asia 200 Digital Leaders
Avward (Architect Category) and the Inaugural Digital Pilipinas Award ( Architect Category ). She has
a Bachelor of Science degree in Indusirial Economics with a Minor in Humanities and a Master of
Science in Industrial Economics from the University of Asia and the Pacific. She is currently pursuing
a second degree in real estate management from the Information and Communications Technology
Academy.

Ay, Alvin C. Go, Dhrector, 62 vears old, Filipino

He was first elected to the Board of Directors on 15 June 2023, He concurrently serves as Senior Vice
President and Head of Corporate Compliance, Legal Services, and the Internal Audit Group (Legal
Sepvices) of BDO Unibank, Ine. (“BDO). Prior to joining BDO), he was the Chiel Legal Counsel of
the Philippine National Bank from 2003 to 2012, He was an Associate Attorney at Salonga Ordofiez
Yap Corpuz Padlan & Associates Law Offices from 1985 to 1989, He served as Prosecution Atlorney
from 1989 to 1990 and State Prosecutor at the Department of Justice from 1990 to 1993, He was a
Senior Partoner at Go Cojuanseo Mendoza Ligon & Castro Law Offices from 1994 to 1999, and Senior
Partner at Go & Castro Law Offices from 1999 to 2003, He obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree in
Political Scicnce from the Tmmaculate Concepeion College in Ozamiz City and his Bachelor of Laws
degree from Misamis University.

Sutharshan Kandiah, Chief Financial Officer, 54 vears old, Australian

He is a seasoned finance executive with experience heading large institutional operations at UBS as
head of its Asian and Japanese capital markets businesses and head of Southeast Asian investment
banking, He also has extensive experience in building and operating stari-up financinl services
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businesses. He brings over 25 years of experience in markets across the Asia Pacific, including Japan.
and has held leadership roles in the key finance hubs of Singapore, [Hong Kong, and Japan. After over
a decade in senior roles at UBS, he left to set up, build, operate, and lead the capital markets and
investment banking business of Religare Capital Markets ("Religare™). Following Religare’s exit to
Soochow Securities (“Soochow™), a statc-owned Chinese securities firm, he served as Soochow’s
Chief Exccutive Officer of Asset Management and Vice Chairman of Capital Markets and was
instrumental in growing the firm’s brand recognition in the region, Additionally, he has structured and
executed over 250 transactions for mid and large-sized corporations in industries including real estate,
travel, hospitality, zaming, healtheare, and media and technology. He presently serves as Senior
Advisor to a private equity firm and a venture capital firm that are focused on Southeast Asia and
serves as Advisor o the Board of Directors at Digipay, a digital payments and financial services
application based in the Philippines. He holds a Master's Degree in Applied Finance from Macquarie
University and Bachelor’s Degree in Economics from the Australian National University.

MNelileen 5. Baxa. Corporate Secretary and Corporate Information Officer, 45 vears old, Filipino

She is concurrently the Assistant Corporate Secretary of Megaworld, Allinnce Global Group, Inc.,
GERI, and Suntrust Properties. Inc. ("Suntrust Properties™). She is also presently a Senior
Accounting Manager at Megaworld, Ms. Baxa concurrently serves as a Director at Asia Finest Cuisine,
Inc., Bordeaus Properties, Inc.. Langham Properties, Inc.. Rowenta International, Inc.. and Venetian
Properties. Inc. She is a Certified Public Accountant with over 18 vears of experience in the fields of
accounting and finance, She obtained her Bachelor’s Degree in Accountancy from the University of
Sto, Tomas,

Atty, Mana Carla T. Uvkim, Assistant Corporate Secretary and Assistant Corporate Information
Officer. 47 vears old, Filipino

She is concurrently the Head of the Corporate Advisory and Compliance Division and is a member of
the Management Executive Committee at Megaworld. She also concurrently serves as the Corporate
Secretary of GERI, MREIT. Asian E-Commerce, Global One Integrated Business Services, Tnc.,
Megaworld Bacolod Properties. Ine.. Megaworld San Vicente Coast. Inc., Northwin Properties. Inc..
Suntrust Properties, and Maple Grove Land, Inc. She likewise serves as a Director and the Corporate
Secretary of Asia Affinity Property Management, Ine.. Luxury Global Malls, Ine.. Manila Bayshore
Property Holdings, Inc., and Megaworld Capital Town, Inc. She was an Associate at Andres Marcelo
Padernal Guerrers & Paras Law Offices from August 2005 to April 2007 where she specialized in
labor and corporate law, and at ACCRA Law from February 2003 to January 2004 where she practiced
immigration law. She also served as the Chief of Staff of Congresswoman Remedios L. Petilla from
July 2004 until June 2005, She obtamed her Juris Doctor degree from the Atenco de Manila School of
Law. She has a double degree from De La Salle University: a Bachelor of Arts in Psychology and a
Bachelor of Science in Markeling Management, both of which she camed in 1997,

Maria Cristina D, Gonzales, Compliance OfTicer, 60 years old. Filipino

She concurrently serves-as First Vice President for the Revenue Business Group at Megaworld, a
position she has held since 2007, Previously, she was the Vice President for Audit at Megaworld, a
position she held from 1993 to 2007, an Audit Manager for Shoemart, Ine, from 1988 to 1993, and an
Auditor with Syeip Gorres Velayo & Co. from 1984 to 1987, She has been a Certified Public
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Accountant since 1984, She graduated magna cum fande with a Business Administration degree in

Accounting from the University of the East,

{2) Significant Employees

The Company does not have significant employees, i.c., persons who are not executive officers but are
expected to make significant contributions to the business.

(3) Family Relationships

No Director or corporate officer is related to each other up to the fourth (4™ civil degree, whether by

consanguinity or affimty.

Item 10, Execulive Compensation

The table below summarizes the aggregate compensation of the Company’s Chairman ol the Board of
Directors, President, and five (5) most highly compensated executive officers for the years 2023, 2022, and
2021. No salary and bonuses were paid in 2021 ag this was prior to the appointment of the officers.

Name Position Year Fees Bonus Other
{in PhP) (in Ph*) Compensation
{in PhP)
1. LoKai Chairman of
Bong the Board of
2. Chua Ming hrectors
Huar President a
1 Neoli Mae E— 2023 | 36,200,791.00 - 40,124,597 .00
L. Kho Chief
4, Sutharshan Financial
Kandiah Officer
5. Melileen 5. Corporate
Baxa Secretary
6, Ally, Maria and
CarlaT. Corporate | 5035 | 14,058495.00 | 2,175.669.00 | 38,284.549.00
Lvlkim Information
7. Mara Officer
Cristina [, Assistant
Gonzales Corporate
Secretary
and
Assistant
E;,”’“"‘“.“ 2021 - - 4.925.700.00
ormation
Officer
Compliance
Officer
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(1)

Employment Contracts and Other Arrangements

Aside from the compensation arising from serviee arrangements with certain Directors amounting (o
PhP40, 124, 597,00, PhP38. 284 54900, and PhP4,925700.00 in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively,
there are no other arrangements, mcluding consulting contracts, pursuant to which any Director of the
Company was compensated, or is to be compensated, direetly or indirectly, for the vears 2023, 2022,
and 2021 and for the ensuing year, for any service provided as a director. No employment contracts,
termination of employment, or change in control arrangements were affected for the applicable
calendar year,

Excepl for mimimal allowance or per diems paid o certain members of the Company’s Board of
Directors amounting to PhP1,433,333.00, PhPL411.110.00, and PhP333,333.00 in 2023, 2022, and
2021, respectively. there are no arrangements in force pursuant to which the Directors of the Company
are compensated, or are to be compensated. directly or indirectly, for any services provided as such
director. Below is a summary of the aggregate per diems given to the Directors of the Company as a

L pagit i

2023 | 2022 2021

!

PhP1,433,333.00 | PhP1411,110.00 PhP333,333.00

(2)

Warrants and Options Outstanding

The Company’s Chairman of the Board of Directors, President, Directors, and executive officers did
not hold warrants or stock options in the years 2023, 2022, and 2021, nor are there plans for extending
warrants or stock options in the ensuing year.

Item 11. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

(1) Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners
As of 29 Fehruary 2024, the following were the owners of record, directly or indirectly, of more than
5% of the Company’s outstanding capital stock, and the number of shares and percentage of
shareholdings of each of them:
Title of Name and Address of Name of Beneficial Owner | Citizenship No. of Ownership
Class Record Owner and and Relationship with Shares Held Percentage
Relationship with Issuer Record Owner
Common | PCD Nominee | PCD Nominee Corporation, a | Non-Filipino | 3,717,203.637 51.272%
Corporation wholly owned =subsidiary of
(Non-Filipino)’ the PDTC. is the registered

owner of the shares in the
29" Floor BDO Equitable | books of the Company s stock
Tower, 8751 Paseo de transfer agent.
Roxas, Makati City,
Philippines

" As ol 31 December 2023, CB Securities held move than 5% of the Company’s voling seeurilies: 3,607 650,795 shares or 51.00%,
of the Company's voting scouritics, These shares ore recorded under PCD Nominee Corporation, Fortune Moble Limited 15 the
ultdmiste beneficial owner of 3,697 499998 of said shares,
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Title of Name and Address of Name of Beneficial Owner | Citizenship No, of Ownership
Class Record Owner and and Relationship with Shares Held Percentage
Relationship with Issuer Record Owner
Out of the 3.717.203.687
Stockholder of record for | shares registered under PCD
shares lodged with the Mominee Corporation (Non-
POTC Filipino), 3,697,499 994
shares, representing 51% of
the Company’s capital stock,
are beneficially owned by
Fortune Noble. The remaining
19,703 689 shares are held by
various trading participants ol
the PDTC.
Common | Megaworld Corporation | The parent  company  of Filipino 2,437,165,008" 33.616%
Megaworld  is  Alliance
30" Floor Alliance Global | Global.
Tower, 36" Street corner
11" Avenue, Uptown Mr. Tan has the power to
Bonifacio, Taguig City, direct  the  wvoting  and
Philippines disposition of the shares held
by  Megaworld in  the
Substantial stockholder Company,
Common | PCD Nominee PCD Nominge Corporation, a Filipino T2 4HE, 088 10, 103%
Corporation (Filipine)"' wholly owned subsidiary of
the PDTC. is the registered
29" Floor BDO Equitable owner of the shares in the
Tower, 8751 Paseo de books of the Company’s stock
Roxas, Makati City, transfer agenl. The beneficial
Philippines owner of such shares entitled
to vote the same are PDTC's
Stockholder of record for participants  who  hold  the
shares lodged with the shares either in their own
PDTC behalf or on behalf of their
| clients,
(2) Security Ownership of Directors and Management
The following table shows the ownership of the following Directors and corporate officers in the
Company’s commoen shares as of 29 February 2024:
Title of | Name of Beneficial Owner | Citizenship Amount and Nature of Ownership
Class Beneficial Ownership Percentage
Common Lo Kai Bong Chinese 12 Direct 51.000%

¥ The shares of Megaworld comprise of (i} 2437, 163,008 dircetly held common shares and (n) 27,834,992 common shares

indirectly held through Avtors Securities and recorded under PCD Momines Corporation (Filipino ).

1 See footnote 9.
e Lo Kai Boag holds this shiare 1o rust The beneficial owner of this share is Foriune Noble
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Title of | Name of Beneficial Owner | Citizenship Amount and Nature of Ownership
Class Beneficial Ownership Percentage
3.697.499,998" Indirect
. ; . : 1 Direct "
Common Chua Ming Huat Malaysian 5 Indirect 0.000%,
Common Jesus B, Varela Filipino i Du:cm 0.000%,
{ Indirect
: . finin | Direct
N * ; = - ; ik
Common Eugenio B. Reducindo Filipino 0 Indireet 0.000%,
i S
Common Ferdinand B, Masi Filipino L -['?“.‘;H- 0.000%,
Indirect
1 g
Common Neali Mae L. Kho Filipino L} Dusa 0.000%
0 Indirect
; R S e, I Direct &
Common Atty. Alvin C. Go Filipino 0 Indirect 0.000%,
Common Nelileen S. Baxa Filipino 0 Dircet 0.000%
1] Indirect
Common | Atty. Maria Carla T. Uykim |  Filipino L Dtegt 0.000%
0] Indirect
Common Sutharshan Kandiah Australian ] : D1Feut 0.000%
{ Indirect
Common | Maria Cristina D. Gonzales Filipino d D’.m:l 0.000%;
1] Indirect
Total 3,697,500,005 - SL.O00%

The aggregate number of common shares directly and indirectly owned by all corporate officers and
Directors as a group as of 29 February 2024 is 3,697.500,005 or 51.000% of the Company’'s
outstanding capital stock.

{3) Voting Trust

The Company has no knowledge of persons holding more than 5% of its voting securities under a
voting trust or similar agreement.

(4) Changes in Control

On 13 May 2022, Major Success Group Limited (“Major Suecess”™), Ever Smart Capital Limited,
Better Linkage Limited, and Mr. Lo Kai Bong collectively purchased shares and therelore acquired
approximately 74.97% of the LET Group which. through Fortune Noble, owns 51% of the total issued
and outstanding capital stock of the Company. On even date, Champion Trade Group Limited and
Major Suceess entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreements which involved the acquisition of LET
Group shares, among others, at 3 consideration of HKD344,383,557.00. Major Success is controlled

" Wir, Lo Kar Bong controls the LET Group, The LET Group wholly owns Foriune Noble. Foriune Noble owns 5 1% of the issued
and outstanding capital stock of the Company

MMy, Cliwa Ming Huot bolds this share in st The beneficial owner of this share is Fortuse Noble.

" M Ferdinand B, Masi holds this share in trust, The beneficial owner of this share 1= Megaworkd,

o nds, Neol Mae Lo Kho holds this share in trust, The beneficinl owner of this share 15 Megaworhd
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by Mr. Lo Kai Bong. The foregoing transactions resulted in a change in control in the Company, albeit
indirectly,

Aside from the foregoing, the happening of any of the following could result in a change in control
in the Company:

{a) Subjeet to the provisions of the OLSA, exercise by China Bank of its forcelosure rights over
Company shares owned by Fortune Noble, which shares form part of the security package for
loans drawn by the Company from the Loan Facility; and

{b) Subject to the provisions of the Convertible Bonds issued in favor of SA Investments, exercise
by SA Investments of its conversion rights under said Convertible Bonds,

Item 12, Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Except for the material related party transactions described in the Notes to the Audited Financial Statements
ol the Company and clsewhere in this Annual Report, there has been no matenal transaction during the last
two (2) years to which the Company was or is a party, in which any director, executive officer, or employee,
past or present, any nominee for election as director, stockholder of more than ten percent (10%) of the
Company’s voting shares, and any member of the immediate family (including spouse, parents, children,
siblings. and in-laws) of any such director or officer or stockhelder of more than ten percent { 10%) of the
Company’s voting shares had or is to have a direct or indirect material interest.

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other
party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions, the
parties are subject to common control, or the party is an associate or a joint venture, Under SEC
Memorandum Circular (“M.C.") No. 24, series of 2019, the term “related parties™ covers “the covered
entity’s directors, officers, substantial shareholders and their spouses and relatives within the fourth civil
degree of consanguinity or affinity, legitimate or common law, and other persons if these persons have
control, joint control, or significant influence over the covered entity,” and the covered cnuiy’s parent,
subsidiary, fellow subsidiary, associate, affiliate. joint venture, or an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled, or significantly influenced or managed by a person who is a related pariy.” The term “related
parly transactions” means a transler of resources, services, or obligations between a reporting entity and a
related party, regardless of whether a price is charged. The circular adds that this term “should be interpreted
broadly to include not only transactions entered into with related parties but also outstanding transactions
that are entered into with an unrelated party that subsequently becomes a related party.”

PART IV - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Item 13a. Corporate Governance
This portion of the Annual Report has been deleted pursuant to SEC MLC. No. 5, series of 2013,
In compliance with SEC M.C. No, 15, series of 2017, and PSE Circular No. 2017-0079 on the Integrated
Annual Corporate Governance Report (“i-ACGR™), the Company’s i-ACGR will be submitted separately

using SEC Form 1-ACGR. The Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report replaces this section of the
Annual Report and the previous SEC Form ACGR.
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Item 13b. Sustainability Report

A copy of the Company's Sustainability Report is attached hercto as Annex *C.7

PART V - EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES

Item 14. Exhibits and Reports on SEC Form 17-C

(1) Exhibits

See the Index and Supplementary Schedules of the Company’s Consolidated Audited Financial
Statements for the vear ended 31 December 2023, attached hereto as Annex “B.”

{2) Reports on SEC Form 17-C

Below is a list of the reports submitted on SEC Form 17-C during the last six (6)}-month period covered

by this Annual Report:

Date of Disclosure

Details of the Disclosure

8 June 2023

Approval by the Board of Directors of the Company s authority to
negotiate and execute the OLSA with China Bank, among others,
and the appoiniment of authorized signatorics for the purpose

15 June 2023

Results of the Special Meeting of the Stockholders:

Election of Atty. Alvin C. Go as regular Director of the
Company

Subject to the approval of the SEC, change in the Company's
principal office address and amendment of the Third Article
of the Company’s AQI for the purpose

Approval of the secured loan undertakings under the OLSA,
imcluding the mortgage of all or substantially all of the
Company’s assets and properties

Listing of the 250,000,000 shares 1ssued to Megaworld
Waiver of the rights or public offering requirement under the
PSE Consolidated Listing and Disclosure Rules, as amended,
applicable 1o the hsting of the 250,000,000 shares of
Megaworld

26 July 2023

Approval and execution of the following agreements; (i) Third
Supplement to the Subscription Agreement dated 28 October
2009 with Fortune Noble, Westside, and Travellers. (i)
Supplement to the Deed Poll dated 30 December 2020 with
Fortune Noble. (iii} Conditional Supplement to the Deed Poll
dated 30 December 2020 with SA  Investments, (iv)
Conditional Supplement to the Deed Poll dated 10 June 2022
with SA Investments, (v) Subseription Agreement dated 26
July 2023 with SA Investments, and (vi) Conditional Loan
Agreement dated 26 July 2023 with SA Investiments

Suntrust Resort Holdings, Inc.
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Date of Disclosure

Dretails of the Disclosure

Appointment of Mr. Lo Kai Bong as authorized signatory of
the Company for the purpose

27 July 2023

Approval and execution of a USD5.000.000.00 loan
agreement with the LET Group

Appoiniment of Mr. Chua Ming Huat or his duly authorized
representative as the Company’s authonzed signatory for the

purpose

3 August 2023

Comprehensive Corporate Disclosure in relation to the 2023
Subscription  Agreement between the Company and SA
Investments

25 September 2023

Results of the Meeting of the Board of Directors:

Approval of the proposed schedule (31 October 2023 at 9:00
AM), manner (video conferencing), record date (10 October
2023), and agenda for this vear’s Annual Meeting of the
Stockholders

Opening of the nomination period (from 25 September 2023
o 5 October 2023) for the candidates for election to the
upcoming Board of Directors

Approval ol the amendment of the Company’s AOL (i)
increase of the ACS from PhP23,000,000,000.00 divided into
23 000,000,000 common shares at PhP1.00 per share to
PhP2E,000,000.000,00 divided into 28,000,000,000 common
shares at PhP1.00 per share, and amendment of the Seventh
Article of the AOI for the purpose; and (i1) addition of retail
activities to the Company's purposes, and amendment of the
Second Article of the AOI to implement such change
Reiteration of the approval of the amendment of the
Company’s By-Laws given by the Board of Directors on 9
September 2022 and by the stockholders on 23 October 2022
Adoption of the recommendation of the Audit Committee to
reappoint Punongbayvan as the Company’s external auditor for
the ensuing vear and to present such recommendation and this
approval for ratification of the stockholders during this year’s
Annual Meeting ol the Stockholders

31 October 2023

Results of the Annual Meeting of the Stockholders and
Organizational Meeting of the Board of Directors:

Approval of the Minutes of the Annual Stockholders’
Meeting held on 25 October 2022 (the “2022 Annual
Meeting™) and Minutes of the Special Stockholders™ Meeting
held on 15 June 2023

Ratification of acts, reselutions, and decisions of the Board
of Directors and Management. as well as all eontracts and
transactions entered into by the Company, since the 2022
Annual Meeting

Election of directors for the ensuing yvear

Suntrust Resort Holdings, lne.
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Date of Disclosure

Dretails of the Disclosure

Confirmation of the changes to the Company”s BL previously
approved by the stockholders during the 2022 Annual
Meeting

Subjeect to the approval of the SEC, the addition of retail
activities to the purposes of the Company and amendment of
the Second Article of the Company’s AOT to implement such
addition

Subject to the approval of the SEC, increase in the
Company’s ACS from PhPZ3,000,000,000,00 divided into
23,000,000,000 common shares at PhP1.00 per share to
PRP2E,000,000,000.00 divided into 28,000.000,000 common
shares at PhP1.00 per share, and amendment of the Seventh
Article of the Company’s AOIL for the purpose

Appomtment of Punongbavan as the Company's external
auditor for the ensuing vear

Election of corporate officers and organization of Board
Commiltees

I8 January 2024

Amnouncements of foreign affiliates in relation to the transaction
that prompted the voluntary halt in the trading of their shares on
ihe HKEX:

Board-level and high-level officer resignations at the LET
Group and SA Holdings

Details of the transaction that prompted the foreign alfiliates
to apply for the voluntary halt in the trading of their respeciive
shares listed on the HKEX
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SIGNATURE/S
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 17 of the Securities and Regulation Code and Section 141 of the
Corporation Code, this Annual Report is signed on behalf of the Company by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized,
SUNTRUST RESORT HOLDINGS, INC.

By:

rn— 1=
CHUA HUAT SUTHARSHAN KANDIAH
President Chief Financial Officer

ALDEE J. CELIS

Financial Controller

25 MaR 2024 PARANAQUEGIHY
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me this ___ day of in . affiants
appeared and exhibited to me their respective competent evidence of identity bearing their photographs and
signatures, as follows:

Name Competent Evidence Place Issued Expiry Date
of ldentity
Chua Ming Huat Malaysian Passport Consulate General of 25 October 2028
No, A55394333 Malaysia in Hong Kong
Sutharshan Kandiah Australian Passport Australian Passport 5 December 2027
No. PE0419787 Office
Aldee J. Celis Passport No. Depariment of Foreign 4 June 2032
PO398763C Affairs — Manila
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SIGNATURE!S

Pursuant 1o the requirements of Section 17 of the Securities und Regulation Code and Section 141 of the
Corporation Code. this Annual Report is signed on behalf of the Company by the undersigned. thereunto
duly authorized.

SUNTRUST RESORT HOLDINGS, INC.

By:
\%

NELI S| RAXA
Carporote Sceretiury mnd

Corporate Information Officer

GH Y OF MAXALI
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before mid Aifs Zj 3@24 in , affiant
appeared and exhibited to me her competent evidence of identity bearing her photograph and signature,
UMID 1) No. CRN-DD33-583001 66-8, isseed by the Sovial Secuorily Sysiem.
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SUNTRUST
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENTS RESPONSIBILITY
FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Tha management of Suntrust Resort Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiares (the Group) is responsible for
he preparation and fair presentation of the consclidated financial statements, including the
schedules atisched therein, for the years anded Decembar 31, 2023 and 2022, in accordance with
the presciibed financial reporting framework indicated therein, and for such intemal conlrol as
managament delermines is necessary lo snable the preparation of consolidated fnancial
slatements that are free from matarial misstatement, whether due-to fraud or ermar

In preparing the consolidaled financial statements, management s responsible for assessing
the Group's ability lo continue as a going concem, disciosing, as applicable, matiers refaled to
going concern and using 1he going concern basis of accounting uniess managament eithar
intends to iquidate the Group or lo cease operations, or has no realistic alerative to do so

The Board of Dineciors |s responsible for oversesing the Group's finanoal reportng process

Tha Board of Directors reviews and approves the consolidated financial ststements,
including the echedulas attached therein, and submits the same fo the stockholders,

Punangbsyan and Araiillo, the Independent auditers appoinied by the stockholders. has audited
the consolidated financial statements of the Group in sccordance with Fhilippine Standards on
Auditing, and in their report tgythe stockholders. have expressed theiropinion on the fairness of

Sutharshan Kandiah
Chiafl Financial Officer
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Punongbayan & Araullo
207 Floor, Tower 1

The Enterprize Center
G766 Avala Avenis

1200 Makafi City

Report of Independent Auditors Piligi

T +63 2 BO8E 2288

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Suntrust Resort Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
(Formerly Suntrust Home Developers, Inc.)

{A Subsidiary of Fortune Noble Limited)

26" Floor, Alliance Global Tower

36" Street corner 11% Avenue

Uptown Bonifacio, Taguig City

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audiled the consolidated financial statements of Suntrust Resort Holdings, Inc.

and subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position
as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the consolidated statements of income, consolidated
slaterments of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in equity and
consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2023, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy infarmalion.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2023 and 2022,
and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2023 in accordance with Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards (PFRS).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards an Auditing (PSA). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group In accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the
Philippines (Code of Ethics) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audits of the consolidated financial statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion,

Carlified Public Accountants ntthornton.com
Pumngbayan & Aroullo (P&A) is e Philppine meambner frn of Goanl Thamaon Inamation:s Ld. e ph
Offices in Cavile, Cebu, Dovies

BOA PRC Cenl of Reg. No, 4002

SEC Accredilation Mo, 0002
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Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Nete 17 to the financial statements, which indicates that the Group is

in a deficit position as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 due to losses incurred in current and
previous years. As stated in Note 17, management believes that this does not raise material
uncertainty related to going concern as the Group expects to generate revenues in the
foreseeable future upon campletion of its five-star hotel and casine complex (Main Hotel
Casino). Further, management was able to secure additional funding from a financial institution
in 2023; hence, management assessed that the funding is sufficient for the completion of the
construction of the Main Hotel Casino. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matler,

Key Audit Matter

A key audit matter is a matter that, in our professional judgment, was of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current pariod. This matter was addressed
in the context of our audit of the consoclidated financial statements as a whole and in forming
aur opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this matter.

Capitalization of Construction Costs of Main Hotel Casino
Description of the Matter

As of December 31, 2023, the construction of the Group's Main Hotel Casino remains in
prograss. In 2023, the Group incurred and capitalized PB.4 billion of project costs In relation to
the construction activities. This includes capitalized borrowing costs amounting to P2.7 billion.
Additions to construction in progress are recorded as part of Property and Equipment account
in the consolidated statement of financial position,

In our view, the capitalization of costs related lo the construction and development activities is
significant to our audit due to the volume of transactions and the amounts invelved are material
to the Group's consolidaled financial statements.

The Group's accounting policy and related information are disclosed in Notes 2, 3, 7, 8, 11, and
13 to the conseclidated financial statements.

How the Matter was Addressed in the Audi
Our audit procedures, included among others, the following:

» Updating our understanding of the procurement, disbursement and financial reporting
procedures and conftrols over the recognition and measurement of various expenditures,
including those that are capilalizable costs under the Group's construction aclivities;

s Testing the recognition and measurement of capitalizable costs by tracing a sample of
transactions throughout the current period to source documents to verify the nature of
expendilures and accuracy of amount capitalized; and,

s Recomputing and challenging the reasonableness of capitalized borrowing costs,

Cartified Public Accountanis
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Other Information

Management is responsible for the other infarmation. The other information comprises the
information Included in the Group's Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Form 20-15
{Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the year ended
December 31, 2023, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon. The SEC Form 20-15, SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the
year ended December 31, 2023 are expected to be made available to us after the date of this
auditors’ report.

Qur opinion on the consolidaled financial stalements does nol cover the other information and
we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statemeanls, our responsibility is to
read the other information identified above when it becomes avallable and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the sudits, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstatad.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with PFRS, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the praparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue a5 a going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters ralated to
geing concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do
50,

Those charged with govemance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
ProCcess.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to oblain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statemants as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee thal an audit conducted in accordance with PSA will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statemeants.

Cartified Public Accountanis
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As part of an audit in accordance with PSA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

« |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for aur apinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

= Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order o design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion an the effectiveness of the Group's internal contral,

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting pelicies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

« Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence oblained, whether & material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required (o draw altention in our auditors’ repart lo the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concerm.

« Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying lransactions and evenls in a manner thal achieves fair
presentation.

«  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audil opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independenca
and, where applicable, related safeguards.

Cartified Public Accountanis
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From the matter communicated with those charged with governance, we determine the matter
that was of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial staterments of the current
period and is therefore the key audit matter, We describe this matter in our auditors' report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure aboul the matter ar when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of daing s0 would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benafits of such communication,

The engagement partner in the 2023 audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is
Edcel U. Coslales,

PUNONGBAYAN & ARAULLO

Edcel U. Costales
Partner

By

CPA Reg. No. 0134633

TiM 274-543-3085

PTR Mo. 10076139, January 3, 2024, Makati City

SEC Group A Accreditation
Pariner - Mo, 134633-5EC {unlil financial period 2026)
Firm = No. 0002 {until financial period 2024)

BIR AN 08-002551-045-2023 (until Jan. 24, 2026)

Firm's BOA/PRC Cert. of Reg, No. 0002 {until Aug. 27, 2024)

March 21, 2024
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SUNTRUST RESORT HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
{Farmerdy Suniruse Home Developers, frc.)

(A Subsidiary of Fartume Nobfe Limitod)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022
{Amounrs in Philippine Pesos)

Maben 23 20z

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

.l

P 6,021,360,034

P 129 0,422

Prepiyments and other current assets 1,621 528,786 1 E36 054 632
Tl Current Assets 7,642 REE, 820 2427 549 1054
MNON-CURRENT ASSETS
Propayments and deposies for propesty and cognipoent 2,512, 758,374 10047 4407
Property and cguipment - pot 23, 712622347 15204 448 533
.H.Iﬁhl vl ks sl = ficl lI.EﬁE,ﬁ-‘BE,ZH |2.|-|}'_‘.| ﬁ':f.ﬁ-ﬂﬁ
Toml Mon-curmene Assers 37,494,062,932 29093 .601.526

TOTAL ASSETS I* 45,136,951,752 P31 521 30,580
CURRENT LIABITITIES
Trade and other pavabiles -y r T29,687,023 P il A4, 215
Lease liabilites # 2 564,090 -
Do to related partes 15 - TI0, 239 G4l
Toeal Correnr Liahilioes 732,251,113 1,319,174 863
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bank borrowings iy 8,273.607,332 -
Cromvertible hords payvalle 11, 15 16,407,921,500 1A 15 b5, L8G
Larans from relared purtics 15 1,696,682 693
Due w0 rebited parics 15 1,464,126, 519
Tease labllities & 6,226, 301,321 A S0 461 454
Fuerenmion payable 9 794,650,921 421,175,894
Total Mon-curment Liabilines 34,863, 300,286 68T 136,434
Total Linbdlities 35,595,641,399 23 00k, 316,302
EQUITY
Capital srock 17 7,250,000, 000 662,500,010
omvertibbe honds |.4.|1.'|i.lf|' PV 11 E.Tﬁz.rﬂﬂﬁ',tlid S.TRZNG, 144
I'-.XI:}I.HI‘IHL' FLSCTYL ? 3]1925.491 '.f.:!,ll.lﬁﬁ,.ZHE
Dyefcu IT i 3,542 619,192 ) { 3,194 568,132
Tatal Equity 9.541,3100,353 B.514.994 278
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY I 45,036,4951,752 Po31521.300 580

See Nowes o Consolitfated Froaneial Starements,



SUNTRUST RESORT HOLDINGS, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
{Formerly Suntcist Hone Developers, foe,)
{4 Subwidiacy of Fortine Noble Limied)
COMSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

(Amounits fn Phifippdoe Pesos)
Wb 023 X2 20121
REVENUES AND INCOME
Fuapeign exeharpe @ain - net & P 53,342,699 " P
Finance and other ireome 12 99,759 15, L 358,458
Gain om sale oF investment i an assocan 1 - - 3,236,142
53,442,458 13,104, 3595130
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Clpemting expensas 12 JU5,836,817 116474417 138,014,470
s expeinse 14 5,260,060 ATTHTG 24 HEZ 384
Finance coses 12 387,035 - 1,201,376
Forogn exchange boss - net 12 - 4440011 3,600 34101348, 642
Fouity i net losses of an associate I - - 3,236,142
401,493,518 35T 065,230 19,473,214
NET LOSS (P JB,05L060 (P RETIEZIGTY (P S BTRAOEL )
Laoss Per Shire — 1
Fasie and Diluted (P 0048 ) (P ILTT ) P 000710

See Nowes to Consolidaced Financral Statcmients,



SUNTRUST RESORT HOLDIMGS, INC, AMND SURBSIDIARIES
{Formody Sunirust Home Developers, Ine.)
(A Subsscliary of Forrme Noble Lined)
COMSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHEMNSIVE INCOME
FORTHE YEARS ENDED DECEMBIZR 31, 2003, 2022 AND 201

{Arnerires fn PM-I‘_;I‘JPJ'W Persons)
Mo | H2z Mzl
MET LOss (P MEORLO60 ) (P TR0 (P S ETEO0RL
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO355)
Irem that will be reclassified subsequently
1w pt:rﬁl o luss
Exﬂhnﬂ_{,ﬂ.‘ differcmite on 1.|'J.|'I§=.'II.!I'IF
forcpn operanons | { 13,132,855 ) 24071674 fals (47 7112

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (P SAEIEAYISY P F320R030 Y (P S3H, %0 1K Y

See Meotes to Comsolidared Fingneial Siatements.,



Babunce at Junuary 1, 2023
Colleetion of subseriptions toceivable
Toval eomprebiensive loss for the vear

Balunce at December 31, 2023

Babince at Japuary 1, 2022
Recopnition of conversion options

Total comprebensive loss for the vear

Bafance ar December 31, 2022

Babince ar January 1, 2021
T'ransfer of reserve upon disposal oF an sssociare

ol comprehensive less for the vear

Balnnce ar December 31, 2021

SUNTRUST RESORT HOLDINGS, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
{Formerly Suntrust Home ﬂcpcﬁapﬂm_, o)

(A Sebsidiary of Fortune Nobfe Lintited)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

{Arrcrites o Philippine Pesos)

Convertible Boneds

Equity Revaluation
Capital Stock Reserve Exchange Reserve Total
{mee Meae 17) fsee Nete 11) Heserve {zee Mote 1) Deficit F“T"EE
P osEersio01e PS5 TAL006,144 P 95.056,25) (P RIM4568132) P sS14004278
1,357,499 000 : : g 1.387,409.090
{ 13,132,855 ) { F4E051,060) ( 361,183,915 )
POT250,000,000 P 3,752,006,144 P 81,923,401 - (P 3542619192 P 9541,310,353
P 58625000010 P 4592867070 P TAE4,578 (P 2637516005) P 7888835563
L1 I59,074 1139130074
24071,67H { SRTAEZNAT ) ¢ 532080339 )
P 5862500010 P 57320006, 144 P 25 056 256 (P 3195681320 P AS14.9%278
P SS62500010 P 4592867070 P 4,336,876 60033 (P 2133008044 P R327,065945
- = - B (133 ) 460033 i
- - b 047, T2 { S BTR DM ) 435,290 382 )
P sEGZ500010 P 45uEiEeTT0 P TILAHY ST ([ 20637516095) P THHEHI5503

See Wores ro Conselidared Financinf Statemmernis,



SUNTRUST RESORT HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(Formedy Sunirust flome Developens, foc}
(A Spbataiany o Fortume Nedie Efmiwed)
COMSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CAsH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECENMBER 31, X023, 22X AND 221

A srorianrs o Plelfipgeioe Fesox)
Mot 223 222 fkh]
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Lawss hefome tax " B TELYM ) (P S3EATSO2 {P T, a3 ke |
Malpuszrnerien o )
1 el el I':m:lgn r-.r.'.||.1|1:|.;= lpiss [pgairs} - rei 1 { A 34,545 4080 350 M zadgxs
| kegrmcianion anid amoreanng i TATG011 Tz 2R%] 7,197
Limtereee experise AET 058 1301 KTk
Fimance income { wIsey (SN LS I5H,5RH
Lasse o Bease wermdnacinn = 1 X528
Bejuaiiy i peet bissics dal wn dusiicinie 1 RNcE M B
Galn on sade of [pvessment I ap msoctae 1 = L { 3230042 )
{ dperatiegg Ires befome working eapleal changes { 425,152452) NTAINT ) 500 R11
Inewesisg in iFier Curren a=ser i i, 350 HY2 ) { 4248621 5 { SANEAGT TR
Mecreane in tracle arsl waher plphhav [ RN kT 1 { T TEEasy i 12T RN |
Tnevease (decrease] in e redans] parrics i 189, 248,085 ) - ) 27382014
Casdi uperd m operatey 1 1,238,299 569 § L2l hMaaiyy AL TR ATE
Imicress meceivod d-l.-liti.l!ﬁ AR5, RS BT
Cashy pald frirrases { EXEui6e) | STTALA Ldmdh 444
Nes Cash e it Opirating Actiires (L 0R408) (SO (s
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
.‘I.I?ql.lll'llllln‘ilrr.!'l"l]tl‘.".' ard eqilpmicni ¥ i 370 Eah 54 ) { AR RN ] i REESWECE S
At v prepeeyments and depoies e prepery amd equegenen J { 1,538,035,851 ) (REE RN b B T, TR LR
Proweeds frwn sale oF imvesmmetie b o iss wtaag 1 = - 153,724
et Caehy §sexd im Investing Activites { 5 RI SO0 ) | 333N TS | 4 B84 172732
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Peoceeds froum banl bamwdags B, 740, 00 000
en proceeds frony loan from rclaeed parmies 1.'_:}1.!-[1.1}11 | SHITRINGL
Cullection oo subscription receivalile 1387, 494, 90 - .
Paymenr of inneresi smd financing codes { 6HLITI2AR) GIEARRAREY | 20497 16"
Tepaprmetre of lesse lnhilitles { ZATH 750 ) | IT 214,056 )
Proceeds fnom b-smlru'qn = S, AR GA N
Mer ash Prom F set ing Pinancing Acirvities 11,195,755 D02 i i AR 037 54051
NET INCAEASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS o, 749 B0 B0 { 32597513935 4,474 500
CASH AMD CASH EQUIVALENTS AT HEUIN'NTNG OF YEAR 1,01 i £33 o, 154 Ha 2L RS, SATI AT
EFFECTS ON POREIGHN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH i 200108 ) i, B 4104 ZHL,TiH AR
AN CASH EQUIVALEMNTS
CASH AMD CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR B 6,001, 360,034 B 12,00 422 P 5541350

Srprpviemeneniin’ Fouesrrvn e Pl Cltenarig, Pronnsay o Benteg Adoaratier o aesodosrel s Soose 20 to iy Coompichrm Fovmonal S aveavenis,

Spe Novew e Consolidared Financlal Seatémenes,



SUNTRUST RESORT HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
{Formerly Suntrust Home Developers, Inc.)
(A Subsidiary of Fortune Noble Limited)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021
(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

CORPORATE INFORMATION
L1  Company Background

Suntrust Resort Holdings, Inc., formerly known as Suntrust Home Developers, Inc.,
(the Parent C:_lmpan}: or Suntrast) was incorporated in the Fhi]ippint,‘.s on January 18, 19506,
The Parent Company is a publicly listed entity in the Philippines. On Ocrober 25, 201% and
December 17, 2019, respectively, the Board of Directors (BODY) and stockholders approved
the amendment of the Parent Company’s primary and secondary purposes, as presented in the
Articles of Incnrp-nmrinm to allow the TParent Enr‘npnn? to focus on tounsm-related
businesses. This change was subsequently approved by the Philippine Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) on June 17, 2020, Further amendments were made in 2019 to increase the
authorized capital stock and change the corporate name to align with the business objectives
(see Note 1.4).

As ar December 31, 2023, the construction of structural work and tower tacade up to roof
level have been completed (except fagade at the middle portion of skybridge). The major
mechanical, electrical, and plumbing equipment have been delivered to construction sire and
are undergoing installation. Architectural builders and fit out works, and external civil works
are in progress, Managemenr aimis to commence the operations of a 5-star hotel and casino
establishment (Main Hotel Casinoj in the first quarter of 2025,

Megaworld Corporaton (Megaworld), also a publicly listed company in the Philippines, used
tir be the Parent Company’s major stockholder with 42% direct ownership interest in the
Parent Company until the acquisition by Fortune Noble Limited (Forrune Noble) in 2019 of
an agpregate of 1,147 500,000 shares of the Parent Company representing 51% interest over
the latter, Accordingly, Fortune Noble became the parent company of Suntrust and its
subsidiaries (the Group). Fortune Noble is incorporated in the Brinsh Virgin Islands
(the “BVI”) and is a subsidiary of LET Group Holdings Limited (the intermediate parent
company or LET Group), a publicly listed company in Hong Kong. Major Success Group
Limited (Major Success), a company incorporated in the BV is the ultimate holding company

of LET Group.

The principal activity of Major Success is investment holding. LET Group and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in (i) through Suntrust and its subsidiaries, the development and
operation of the Main Horel Casing; (i) through Summir Ascent Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries, the operation of the hotel and gaming business in the Integrated Entertainment
Zone of the Primorye Region in the Russian Federanon; and (iii) property development in
Japan.

The Parent Company’s registered office address and principal place of business is the 26
Floor, Alliance Global Tower, 36™ Street corner 11™ Avenue, Uptown Bonitacio, Taguig City.
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The registered office and principal place of business of Fortune Noble is at Vistra Corporate
services Centre, Wickhams Cay 11, Road Town, Tortola VG110, Briosh Virgin lslands. LET
Group’s registered office i$ located at P.O, Box 31119, Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802
West Bay Road, Grand Cayman, KY1 — 1205, Cayman Islands and its principal place of
business is at Unit 1705, 17/F., West Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong, Major Success’ registered office and principal place of business is located
at Vistra Corporate Services Centre, Wickhams Cay 11, Road Town, Tortola VG110, Brirish
Virgin Islands,

1.2  Subsidiaries

Suntrast holds ownership interests in the following subsidiaries:

Esplanarory Percentage of
MNotes Ownership
Subsidiaries:
SWE Projeer Managemene Limiared (SWOCPML) () FLUTRY N
W Project Management Limited (WOPML) by 100.00%
Suncity WC Horel Tnc. (W Hlorel) (€ 100.00%%

Esxplanarosy Motes:
fa)  Iocorporated o Hewy b om faouary 20, 2020 mocmgigne o prowise of rofec! manegenicnt saovices,

(15 !J:Lt.lrpurull_'d Lo Mzean e Felwuary 17, 200 w0 Uigrmn i |'.||1.n.'1>i|.u: wf prosjudt mnnEesenn don Ui
\

e} Iocorperated i the Philippines on fasoary 4, 2021 oo coggge ot business of estichlishisg, conseructingy operating
minigtaye, and/or maneainimg hotels, healrth and wellaess shops, eliema, car parks, eabertunment ceners, pmusement
cenfers ancd other toursm-relnned focilives and 2l = ineidental amd ollsed facilicies and services, amd v osn (other thon
L], hushd, bense ar sublease any real wnd personal property, which may be necessary or convenwnt fur the comduct of s
Inpssiiesses,

13 Sale of Investment fn an Associate

The Parent Company previously held a 24.27% interest over First Oceanic Property
Management, Inc, (FOPMI). On March 25, 2021, an agreement for sale and purchase
(FOPMI SP Agreement) was entered into between the Parent Company and  Asian
E-Commerce, Inc. [Asian E-Commerce), which 5 50%-owned by a non-controlling
shareholder of Suntrust, Pursuant to the FOPMI 3P Agreement, the Parent Company agreed
to sell and Asian E-Commerce agreed to pun.:haﬁc the Parent {:umpun}f’s interest over FOPMI
and its subsidiar'_r, for a consideraton of P153.7 million:

Cin Apnl 16, 2021, the Parent Company and Asian E-Commerce executed the relevant deed
of absolute sale of shares in relation to the Parent Company’s 24.27% equity interest in
FOPMI. The sale of shares in FOPMI resulted to the derecognition of the Group's

investment in an asseciate. Total gain on sale of investment in an assoctate amounted 1o
P3.2 million,

Prior to sale, the Parent (:n-mpﬂn'_r; recognized irs uquif‘_l.' in ner resules of FOPMI amounting
tor P3.2 million (loss) in 2021 in s consolidated statements of income,

14  Amendments to the Parent Company’s Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws

On September 6, 2021, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the amendment to the Articles
of Incorporation and By-Laws to change the Parent Company’s corporate name to “Suntrust
Resort Holdings, Ine.”. On October 26, 2021, the Parent Company’s sharcholders approved
the aforementioned amendments to the Parent’s Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws. On
June 8, 2022, the SEC has approved the aforementioned amendments w the Parent
Company’s Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws,
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On April 17, 2023 and June 15, 2023, the BOD and Sharcholders, respectively, approved the
change in the Parent Company’s principal office from 26ch Floor, Alliance Global Tower, 36th
Street corner 11th Avenue, Uptown Bonifacio, Taguig City 1634 w 8/F Newport
Entertainment & Commercial Centre, Newport Blvd,, Newport Cybertourism Zone, Pasay
City 1309, As at dare of issuance of the financial statements, the change of principal otfice is
pending filing with and approval by the SEC.

On Seprember 25, 2023 and October 31, 2023, the BOD and Stockholders, respectively,
approved the (a) increase of authorized capital stock trom Php23,000,000,000 divided into
23,000,000,000 common shares at Phpl.O0 per share to Php8,000,000,000 divided into
28,000,000,000 common shares at Phpl.00 per share (b) amendment of the Corporation’s
secondary purposes to include retail activides. As at date of issuance of the financial
statements, the increase in authorized capital stock is pending filing with and approval by the
SEC.

1.5  Approval of the Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the vear ended
December 31, 2023 (including the comparative consolidated financial statements as at
December 31, 2022 and for the vears ended December 31, 2022 and 2021) were authorized
for issue by the Parent Company’s BOD on March 21, 2024.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The material accounting policy informaton that have been used in the preparaton of these
consolidated financial statements are summarized below and in the succeeding pages. The
policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless atherwise stated.

2.1  Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Staternents
fa)  Ntatement of Compliance weth Phifippine Fimancial Reporting Standards

The consalidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance
with Philippine Financial Reportng Standards (PFRS). PFRS are adopted by the
Financial and Sustainability Reporting Standards Council (FSRSC), from the
pronouncements issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and approved
by the Philippine Board of Accountancy,

The conselidated financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases
specified by PFRS for each wpe of asser, lability, income and expense. The
measurement bases are more fully described in the accounting policies thar follow.

() Presentation of Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with Philippine
Accounting Standard (PAS) 1, Presentation of Financial Statements. 'The Group presents
consolidated statement of comprehensive income separate from the consolidated
statement of income.



fa)

i

The Group presents a third consolidated statement of financial position as at the beginning
of the preceding period when it applies an accounting policy retrospectively, or makes a
retrospective restatement or reclassification of items that has a matenal effect on the
information in the consolidated statement of financial positdon at the beginning of the

preceding penod.

The related notes o the third consolidared statement of financial

ps;.*;irh_:n AreE noe n:quin:d tor be disclosed,

Functional and Presentation Curreney

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, the functional
and presentation currency of the Group, and all values represent absolute amounts
except when otherwise indicated.

Irems included in the consolidated Anancial starements of the Group are measured using
its functional currency, Functional currency is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Group operates.

Adoption of New and Amended PFRS

Effective in 2023 that are Redevant to the Gronp

The Group adopted for the first ime the following amendments to PFRS, which are
mandatorily effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023

PAS 1 and PFRS Pracrice
Sratement 2 (Amendments):  Presentation of Financial Statements —
Disclosure of Accounntng Policies
PAS B (Amendments) :  Dehfinition of Accounting Esnmartes
PAS 12 {Amendments) : Deferred Tax Related o Assets and
Liabilities from a Single Transaction

Discussed below and in rhe succeeding page are the relevant informanon abour these
pronouncements.

@

PAS 1 and PFRS Practice Statement 2 (Amendments), Prerentation of Finaniial
Statermentr — Disclorury of Accoonmting Policies,  The amendments replaced the
requirement for entities to disclose their significant accounting policies with the
requirement to disclose their matenal accounting policy information.  The
amendments also include guidance ro help entities apply the definition of
material in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments clarify that accountng policy informaton mav be material
because of its nature, even if the related amounts are immaterial, thar accounting
policy informanon is marterial if users of an ennry’s financial statements would
need it to understand erher material information in the financial statements and
if an entty discloses immatenal accountng policy information, such information
shall not obscure matenal accounting policy information.  The applicanon of
these amendments is reflected n the Group's consolidared financial statements
under Notes 2 and 3.



-5

(i) PAS 8 (Amendments), Definition of Acconnting Estimates.  'The amendments
introduced a new definition of accounting estimate which is 4 monetary amount
in the financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty, 1t also
clarifics that a change in accounting estimate that results from new information
or new developments is not a correction of an error. In addition, the effecrs of
a change in an input or a measurement technigue used to dcx-‘c]t_lp an gccounting
estimate are changes in accounting estimates if they do not result from the
correction of prior period errors, The application of these amendments had no
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements,

(iii) PAS 12 (Amendments), Deferned Tax: Related o Asiets and 1iabilities frome a Single
Transaction, The amendments narrow the scope of the inidal recognition
exception under PAS 12, so that it no longer applies to wransactions that give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. The amendments also
clarify thar where payments that settle a liability are deductible for rax purposes,
it is a martter of judgement (having considered the applicable tax law) whether
such deductions are attributable for tax purposes to the liability recognized in
the financial statements (and interest expense) or to the related asset component
(and interest expense). Management assessed that the application of such
amendments had no significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
ETATEMENts,

() Effective in 2023 that is not Redevant to the Group

(¢}

Among the amendments to PIFRS, which are mandatorily effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2023, the amendments to PAS 12, Intermational Tax:
Reform — Pillar Tuwo Made Rarles, are not relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial
STATEMEIES,

Ejﬁ}ﬂn‘iw _'f:n".:,lr&;.l.uem' 2023 bat J;ﬂf_firfqﬁ!ﬂf f_:}:u"_;ﬁl

There are amendments to existing standards effective for annual periods subsequent

to 2023, which arc adopted by the FSR5C. Management will adopr the following
relevant pronouncements in accordance with their transitional provisions; and, none
of these are expecred to have significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements:

(i) PAS 1 (Amendments), Preentation of Fiancigl Statements — Classificanon of
Liabilities as Cyrrent or Non-corrent (eftective from January 1, 2024)

(i) PAS 7T (Amendments), Carh Flaw Ntatewrenite and PERS 7 (Amendments), Finaneial
Instrumsents: Diselosures — Supplier Financy Arrangements (etfective from January 1,
2024)

(i) PAS 1 (Amendments), Presentation of Financial Ntatenents — Non-carvent | dabilitier mith
Corenants (eftective from January 1, 2024)

(iv) PFRS 16 {Amendments), Leares — Lease Liability in o Sale and Leaseback

(effective from January 1,2024)

(v) PAS 21 (Amendments), The Efiects af Changes in Forvign Escchange Rater — Lack of
Exchangeabifity (effective from January 1, 2025)



2.3  Basis of Consolidation

The Group's consolidated financial statements comprise the accounts of the Parent Company
and its subsidiarics (see Note 1,2), after the elimination of material intercompany transactions.

The Parent l'.'_',l}mp-.m}-' accounts forits investments in subsidiares and associate as follows:
(a)  lmvestment in Substdiaries

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date the Parent Company obtains control. The
Parent Company reassesses whether or not it controls an entity if facts and
citeumstances indicate that there are chﬂngﬁ to one or more of the three elements of
controls indicated above, Accordingly, entities are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

() Ineestment in an Associate

Investments in associates are initally recognized ar cost and subsequently accounted for
using the equity method,

24 Financial Instruments
fal  DFinancal Assets

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on their trade date
(i.e., the dare that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset),

The Group's financial assets include finanoal assets at amortized cost, which includes
cash and cash equivalents, and refundable deposits,

The Group recognizes expected credit loss (ECL) for its receivables and refundable
depaosits. The ECL on these assets are estimated by applying the simplified approach
using a provision matrix developed based on the Group’s histonical credit loss
experience and credit information that are specific to the debrors, adjusted for general
cconomic condinons and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direcrion of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where
appropriate. These assets are assessed for impairment on a collective basis based on
shared credit risk charactenstics.

(b} Fimancial Liakifitier
Financial liabilides include bank bomrowings, wtade and  other  payables
(excluding tax-related payables), loans from related paries, retention pavable, due to
related parties, lease liabilines and finaneial lability component of convertible bonds.

2.5 Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization and
any impairment in value.

Depreciation of office and communications equipment, furniture and fixtures, and shorter of
lease term improvement is computed on the straight-line basis over the estimared useful lives
of three to five vears.
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2.6  Revenue and Expense Recognition

The Group has not presented any revenues and income in any of the relevant years in its
consolidated statements of income, except for interest income, foreign exchange gain, and
gain on sale of investment in associare.

Cost and expenses are recognized in profit or loss upon vtilization of goods or services or at
the date they are incurred.  All finance costs are reported in profit or loss on an accrual basis,
except capitalized borrowing costs which are included as part of the cost of the related
qualifying asset.

2.7  Group as Leasee

Subsequent to inidal recognition, the Group depreciates the nght-of-use asset on a
straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful
life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term which is from 3 to 19 vears,

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases using the practical expedients. Instead
of recognizing a rght-of-use asset and lease liability, the paymients in relation to these are
recognized as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term,

2.8  Impairment of Non-financial Assets

The Group's property and equipment, righr-of-use assers, and other non-financial assets are
subject to impairment testing.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's consolidated finanetal statements in aceordance with PEFRS
tequires management to make judgments and estimates that affect amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements and related notes. Judements and estimates are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may
ultimately differ from these estimates,

3.1  Crdcal Management fudgments in Applying Accounang Policies

In the process of applving the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the
following judgments, apart from those involving estimation, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements:

o)  Determination af Lease Term of Contracts with Renewal and Termination Optzons

In determining the lease term, management considers all relevant factors and
circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise a rencwal option or not
exercise a termination option.  Renewal options and/or periods after termination
options are only included in the lease term it the lease 15 reasonably certuin to be
extended or not rerminated.
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The factors that are pormally the most relevant are (a) if there are significant penaltics
should the Group pre-terminare the contract, and (h) if any leaschold improvements are
expected to have a significant remaining value, the Group is reasonably certain to extend
and not to terminate the lease contract, Otherwise, the Group considers other factors
including historical lease durations and the costs and business disruption required to
replace the Jeased asset.

The lease term is reassessed if an opton is actually exercised or not exercised or the
Group becomes obliged to exercise or not exercise it. The assessment of reasonable
certainty is only revised if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances
occurs, which affects this assessment, and that is within the control of the Group.
Management assessed that the renewal period on the Parent Company’s lease for its land
should not be included in the lease term as the head lease agreement requires mutual
agreement by both parties prior to renewal (see Note 8).

Recaguition of Provisions asnd Contingencies

Provisions are recognized when present obligations will probably lead to an outflow of
economic resources and they can be estimated reliably evem if the iming or amount of
the outflow may still be uncertain, A present obligation arises from the presence of a
leal or constructive obligation that has resulted from past events.

Judgment is exercised bv management to distinguish between provisions and
contingencies, Disclosures on relevant provisions and contingencies are presented in
Maote 18,

Determination of Liréct Relationsbip between a Boprowing and a COuatifying Assel

Management exercised judgment in determining the relationship between a borrowing
and a qualifving asset. Management considers the usage of funds and whether the asset
acquired is not vet readily available for its intended use. Based on management’s
assessment, the borrowing related to the construetion of the Group’s Main Hotel Casino
are considered specific borrowings (see Notes 8.2, 10, 11, 12.2, and 15.6).

3.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrving amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting
period:

fal

Deterniination of Appropriate Diseownt Rate in Measuring ease 1iabelities

The Group measures its lease liabilities at the present value of the lease payments that
are not paid at the commencement date of the lease contract, The lease payments were
discounted using a reasonable rate deemed by management equal to the Group's
incremental borrowing rate (IBR).  In determining a reasonable discount rate,
management considers the term of the leases, the underlying asset and the economic
environment, Actual results, however, may vary due to changes in estimates brought
abour by changes in such factors.
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Determimaiion of Timing of aase Payments

As disclosed in Note 8, the Group’s lease over a property requires annual rentals starting
from the latter of the first day of commencement of the operadon of the Main Hotel
Casino or other dates that may mutually agreed upon by the Group and the lessor.

In 2022, management determined that the estimated commencement of operation shall
be in 2024 and hence determined the start of payment to be at such year. Consequently,
management remeasured its lease liability to reflect the change in timing of the estimated
date of operatons, consistent ta the original provisions of the lease agreement.
In 2023, a similar remeasurement was made following management’s reassessment that
the uperatons shall commence in the first guarter of 2025,

Details of such remeasurement 15 disclosed in Note 8
Fstimation of Allaweance for ECL on Financial Assets at Amortizied Cost

The assessment of ECL on financial assets at amortized cost requires the use of
assumptions  about  the future  cconomic  conditions and  credit  behavior
{e.g., hkelihood of counterparty defaulting and the resultng losses) and involves
correlanon between historical observed default rates, forecast economic condinons.
Such ECIL. assessment is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast of
cconomic conditions. The Group's histoncal credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representanve of the counterparties’ actual default
in the future. Mo ECL is assessed on existing financial assets at amortized cost as at
December 31, 2023 and 2022, The Group's accounting policy with respect to ECL is
described in Nate 2.4,

Recognition of Financial Liability and Eqguity Companents of Compound Finaneial Instruments

The canvertible bonds contain both a financial lability compenent, which is the Parent
Company’s contractual obligation to pay eash, and an equity component, which is the
holder's option to convert it into the Parent Company’s common shares. The valve of
the financial liability component is determined separately which is deducted from the
tair value ot the compound instrumenr as a whole, and the residual amount is assigned
as the value of the equity component,

The carning amount of the fAnancial habality component was determined by an
independent third-party valuer by using the option pricing method. In measuring the
fair value, the risk-free rate, the underlying volatility of the Parent Company’s stock price,
and enterprise value are the principal assumprions wsed in the valuation. When the fair
value of the financial liability is compared with the fair value of the compound financial
instrument as a whole, which is equivalent ro the issue price, the residual amount was
assigned to the equity component which is presented as Convertible Bonds Equity
Reserve in the consolidared sratements of financial position, The financial liability is
subsequently measured at amorazed cost.

Ertimating Ureful Laver of Property and Eqeapeeent, and Right-of-use A iset

The Group esumates the useful lives of its property and equipment, and ROUA based
on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated
useful lives of these assers are reviewed periodically and are updared if expecratons differ
from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, rechnical or commercial
obsolescence and legal or other limirs on the vse of the assers,
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The carrying amounts of property and equipment, and ROUA are analyzed in
Motes 7 and B, rcspt_'criw_']}'. Based on manﬂgt_'mr_‘nt’s assessment as at December 31,
2023 and 2022, there are no changes in the estimated useful lives of those assets during
those years, Actual results, however, may vary duc to changes in estimates brought about
by changes in tactors mentioned above.

Determinivig Realizable Amount of Deferved Tax Assets

The Group reviews its deferred tax assets (ID'TA) at the end of each reporting period
and reduces the carrying amount to the extent that it is no longer probable that sutficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be urilized.
Based un management’s assessment, the Group has assessed that the unrecopnized
deterred rax assets ansing from net operating loss carry over (NOLCO) and unrealized
toreign exchange losses as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 may not be utilized within
the prescribed periods required by law. The unrecognized deferred tax assets as of those
dates is disclosed in Nore 14,

h?,;nafmmm af Now-finandal Asseir

In assessing impairment, management estimates the recoverable amount of each asser
or 4 cash-generating unit based on expected future cash flows and uses an interest rate
to calcalate the present value of those cash flows. Estimation uncertainty relates to
assumprions about future operating results and the determination of a suitable discount
rate, Though management believes that the assumptions used in the estimaton of fair
values reflected in the consolidated financial statements are appropriate and reasonable,
significant changes in these assumptions may marterially affect the assessment of
recoverable values and any resuling impairment loss could have a matenial adverse effect
on the results of operations,

No impairment losses were recognized on the Group's non-financial assets in 2023 and
2022,

SEGMENT REPORTING

4.1 Business Segments

The Group's operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the
services provided, with each segment representing a unit that offers different services and
serves ditferent markets. For management purposes, the Group is orpganized into two major
business segments, namely propersy management and rental, and tourism-related business
following the change in the primary purpose of the Parent Company as disclosed in Note 1.1
These are also the basis of the Group in reporting to its strategic steering committee for its
stratepic decision-making activities,

fal

{b)

Tourism-related Business — is the development and operation of the Main Hotel Casino,

Property  Management and Rental -~  was the operation, control of
{usually on behalf of an owner) and oversight of commercial, industrial or residential real
estate as used in its most broad terms. This segment is no longer applicable since
April 1, 2021 after the sale of FOPML.

The segment results include the equity share in net earnings of an associate operating in
the same industry,
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4.2  Scgment Assets and Liabilitics

Segment assets include all operating assets used by a segment and consist principally of
operating cash and cash equivalents, prepavments, property and equipment and right of use
asser, Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities and consist principally of wrade and
other payables, due to related parties, bank borrowings, convertible bonds pavable, loans from
related parties, lease liabilities, and retention payable.

The business segment informadon of the Group as of and for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 follows:

023:
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Finance costs

Cperanng expenses
Finance and other income
I.oss before rax

Tax expense

Met lass

Sepment assets

Segment liabilines

2022

Finance costs

Ohperating expenses
Finance and other income
Laass before tax

Tax expense

Net loss

SEEL'HE'!'H' ASKUTS

Segment liabilities

2021:

Reventes and income:

Crain on sale of investment
N associile
3, i T
Finance and other income

Finance costs
Operating expenses
Fquity in net losses

of an associate

[Loss before ax
Tux expense

MNert lnss

Segment assels

Segment liabilides

Tourism- Property
related Management
Business and Rental Total
{P 3870635 P {P 37,635)
{ 395,836,817) (395,836,817
a3 2458 o344 2. 458
( 342.781,994) {  342,781,994)
{ 5.269.066) ( 5. 2089066
(B__348,051060) P -  (B__348,051,060)
P45,136,951,752 P - P 45,136,951,752
P35,595641,399 P -  PJ35595,641,399
(P 440013800y P - (P 440,013,800
{ 16474417 { HoA74417)
13,196 13,196
i 356A475,021) [ 36475021
( ST7.016) ( ST7.016)
(P_5357052037) P (B__557 (0524157 )

P31,521,310,580
P23,006,316,302

P - P 3236142 P 3,236,142
358,988 > J38.988
358,988 3,236,142 3,595,130
{ 341,340.218) : ( 341.340218)
{ 139014,470) (139,014,470
£ ( 3.236,143) | 3,236,142
{ 479,995700) . [ 479,995,700)
{ 24,882 384) - (—24.882.384)
(P__S04478084) P (P__304,8T8,084)
P22,796,584,000 P . P 22,796,584,990



5.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash pertains to cash in banks which generally earn interest based on daily bank deposit rares.

In 2023, the Parent Company holds short-term placements which were made for varying
periods from 5 to 90 days and earned effective interest of 1.50% to 5.00%%,

Interest earned from cash in banks and short-term placements are netted against borrowing
costs which were capitalized as part of Construction-in progress (see Nowe 12.2),

Total realized foreign exchange gain earned from cash in 2023 and 2022 are presented as part
of Poreign Exchange Gain - net in the 2023 and and Foreign Exchange Loss — net in the 2022
consolidared statements of income (see Note 12.2).

2023 2022
Cash on hand P 100,000 P -
Cash in banks 285,699,994 1,291,609 422
Short term placements 5,735,560,040 -

P 6,021,360,034 P_1.291,6019.422

. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS

The composition of this account is as follows:

Mote 2023 2022
Current:
Input value added tax (VAT) P1,557,484,976 P UsR. 122124
Prepaid insurance and
other costs 32,755,953 130,649,771
Refundable deposis B 29,410,057 9(),222
Deferred inpur VAT 1,877,800 47,177,516

1,621,528,786 1136,039.632

MNon-current:
Deposits tor property and

eouipment 2,487,383,143 1,667,606,256
Prepaid insurance and
other cosrs 25.375.231 26,437.151

2,512,758,374 1,694,043 407

P4,134,287,160 2 3,039

Drp: ity for property and t_'ciuipmr:nr pf:rr:lin to adviance PAYIMEnts O COMractors ard
suppliers made by the Parent Company, which are subsequently amaortized as the performance
obliganon 1s 1'1-r_“ri"urrm_':s:l1



7.  PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation of property and equipment at the
beginning and end of 2023 and 2022 are shown below,

Oifice and
Cosmmmeideations - Fumdiose Laaschald Construetion in

_ Equipmeny . and Fixeores.  Ioprovemens. | Progness.  Towl
Pecembier 31, 223

Cone T JLIETHS P ERATE T DA1RS59 PGS S PELTITATRASY
Arcurnulited deprociaton
ane| amortizticn L EAWM Y | Aol [ 23ET163) B S -
B Ty AT BI040 B 160013
ecembir 31, X122
e " 424270 P 5 PASZRIA40 832 P15 2,683,582
n'"lI:I:I.LI'I'lIJIBI:EI.I I'J.l.'FIl'El:i.ﬂl.illl'l
and windetization [ 2I55M0% - - - { 2 IE5040%
MNeL eIt Amdu E LML B - s e ARSI RLS204e8.000
Juemwiey 1, 2022
Cise I 3,720,201 P 224920 I 1,746,577 [' BEALSTAGT [ B ASERN TES
Accurmlutesd deprociation
and ametizasion { 1,775,855 { MY K715} - i 2 954 243
Buchampe difference 108635 FLIE2 A7 1920897407 [8A20,46
L CRITyIng AmEiT ! L9 E 2018 865 P SR AlE P RR4DSETSTY P RE854.531E

A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of property and equipment at the beginning and the
reporting periods of 2023 and 2022 is shown below,

Ohifece and
Crnmmunicutiong Furmniture Leaschald Camstrucsion in
_Equipment  and Fistopres . Improvement  _ Pogress  _ Toeal
Balanee at Juomane 1, 023,
et of accommakied

deprectanon and

armeartization P 200771 ( - p - PISZRHMHEE  PLSI9HRA1E
Additins [EERETENT 119473 WA15.530 BAGRSI0TIE BAZLO0R TET
Repreciamon and

a.um.m'.'uhnn-:haqgul

fiowt thee viear [ e 204000 | A L { L

Pealanee ar Dccembser 31, 2023,
pet of aecumbsied
depreciionm and

armmrtization L liFubdy P WUdE P esllay

Enbrce r Junuany 1, 222
et o accumiakared

depreciation and

AT EALIT P 2059 531 [ 1 A * N 418 P RRIAST AT [ RAS4EIERIG
Addizun ZL2R,TaW . G2 AR 2R A4S0 LT
Daisposal { 1 7a0mE: | | B75,037% | 00 { A4 051

Depreciaiiin nnd
HLTPEL AT lihatHL'b
frie the year [ el ad 4

SE I N v- .1 L . il REIEAT

Balonce ar Diceember 51, 2022,
tiet bt imubated
dl.'r.“"IiHl.l.l:Jn :|l.'|l.'|
ArTsOETEATON ZO0T.T T I TGT A4 ETT O PIR 94 HR 51
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Oiffice and
[ mmuanicaninns Furnsrure Leasehaokd Lnsrracmo m
—Douipment  _dod Pigtgger . isnplovensnt Pioirieat ['istal
Bialance ar famaary 1, 2021,
niek af accomabaied
depreciation and
armurtzEtun I (MLEERER ] I JE 215 I 123253 [ LITA6E1AME Y 1976103 364
\elditsomn 1,302,105 18R 32 1301345 0,550,7 T AGE aAG1 129 TS
Dispersal { LT { A ESh |
Depreciatun and
armdortization charges
tog the vear | L6855y | ol d56) | ARLI11) - [ AlETEle
Exchange differcmee i LU A35 i h 2 R e S EA20,
Halanez ar Decomber 31, 2021,
ner of accamsibsred
depreciation aml
AR ATIZATIN I AITEIL I bgsRie T 90541 TLRBASSTAT TLHBMIMEIG

Construction in progress (CIP) pertains to the accumulated costs incurred on propertics under
development in the Entertainment City, Manila in accordance with the Co-Development
Agreement (CDA) with a related party under common ownership (see Note 15.8). In 2020,
costs incurred totaling to P1LY973.6 million comprised of the amount of deposit capitalized as
reimbursement for the cost of the project, after fulfilling certain conditions (see Note 18.1),
and other costs such as piling, engineering, architectural and other consultancy fees related to
the design and development of the Main Hotel Casino.

Toral interest capitalized as CIP in 2023 and 2022 amounted to P2,672.3 million (net of
P41.4 million interest income) and P2,174.7 million {net of P4.5 million interest income),
respectively (see Noees 8, 10, 11, 122, and 15.6). Capiralization rates used in derermining the
amount of interest charges for cupitalizztiun of specitic borrowings ranges from 6 % to 14%
in 2023 and 2022,

The amount of depreciation and amortzation is presented as part of Operatng Expenses
account in the consolidated statements of income (see Note 12,13,

LEASES

On February 21, 2020, and in relation to the Co-Development Agreemenr (CDA)
(see Nore 15.8), the Parenr Company entered into a lease agreement with a relared party under
common ownership, over three parcels of land. The lease agreement provides for an original
term until August 19, 2034 (19 years) and is renewable automarically for another 25 vears
subject to applicable laws and upon agreement by both parties.

The related annual rental is set at US$10.6 million which is payable starting from the latter of
the first day of commencement of the operation of the Main Hotel Casino and the fulfilment
of the conditions precedent (sec Note 15.8) or such other dates as may be mutually agreed
upan by both parties.

In 2023 and 2022, management remeasured irs lease liabilides and made a corresponding
adjustment o its ROUA amountng to P115.4 million and P825.2 million, respectively to
reflect the change in the timing of the estimated dare of operations of the Main Horel Casino,
consistent to the onginal provisions of the lease agreement [see Note 3.2(h)).

On January 4, 2023, the Parent Company entered into another lease agreement with a related
party under common ownership for the lease an office space for a period of three years.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the lease agreements are reflected in the consolidared
statements of financial posidon as ROUA and lease liabilides in accordance with PFRS 106,
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81 Right-of-use Asset

The carrving amount of the Group’s ROUA as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 and the
TIOVEMents dur‘ing the year are shown helemr,

2023 2022
Cost
Balance at beginning of year P 13,604,499,319 P 14 480,332,310
Remeasurement ( 115,403,416) ( B25, 199087
Additions 7,567,274
Termination - ( S0,633.904 )
Balance at end of year _13,496,663,177 _ 13,604,499,319
Accumulated amortization
Balance at beginning of year 1,499,329,733 799,254,938
Amortization 728,651,233 726,310,175
Termination - ( 26,235.380)
Balance at end of yvear _2,2327,980,966 1,499,329 733

P 11,268,682,211 P 12,105,169,586

In 2021, SWCPML and WCPML entered into certain lease agreements for two rental offices.
However, in 2022, these were terminated; no penalties were incurred on such lease
termination. Consequently, the subsidiaries derecognized the relared ROUA amounting to
P26.2 million and lease liability amounting to P24.3 million (see Note 8.2) in the 2022
consilidated statement of financial position and recognized loss on termination of leases
amounting to PU.1 million as part of Other expenses under Operating Expenses in the 2022
consolidated statement of income. The related refundable deposits were recovered from the
lessor at date of termination (see Note 6).

The Group capitalized the amornzarion of ROUA thar is directly attributable w the
completion of the Main Hotel Casino amounting to P726.3 million in 2023 and 2022, as part
of CIP under Property and Equipment account in the consolidated statements of financial
position (see Note 7).

8.2 Lease Liabiffties

Lease liabalities are presented in the consolidared starements of financial position as follows:

2023 2022
Current P 2564090 P =
Mon-current _6,226,361,321 6,150.461,454

P6,228925411  P6,150,461,454
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The carrying amounts of the Group’s lease liabilities as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 is
presented below.

MNatgs 2023 2022
Balance at beginning of vear P 6,150,461,454 P 6,195,503,842
Interest expense 8.4,122 249,777,719 235,410,607
Remeasurement ( 115,403,416) (  825,199,087)
Exchange difference 12.2 ( 61,058,870) 569,013,087
Addidon 7,567,274 -
Payment { 2,418,750) -
Termination - (—24,268,995)
Balance at end of vear P _6,228,925411 P_06,150461.454
The undiscounted maturity analysis of lease habilicy ar December 31 is as follows :
Wnlln 12 PO | Tl Ll e il 0 19
1 yeaa yEw e Yeurs Ly e L Tead
my
Lusise puribzits FoAEad 000 P SULOTZON P ARG P OSERFIGZ0E P SHROUIG2D0 P 3OS 0STO08 300 558 () PE SR ITATH
Fineres ety [ ZEA00REE0 ) RSAOWRIEZ ) ZMRAESAN0 ) QTLRILEEE) ( 20RFIANTEY [ BRLNSRIAZN [ ARLLIGME { L3ITMEETE)
Nt et nalun PRLASH) PIIMGLME P MUMSIE PIGLURIS P NI PLMAWILIG FLOIANTY PR2ISISAN
f.Lei)
Laciit v niLiosin I I* I S ATEER PO I A AT I md s PO I P HETR THLY
[itsses Clurges L PR T SHLAN] T L V1L St | MU T (R g [ R R SRCTRARNE F ROl AR ¢ AT AT AR
et vt vl TSAMSE ) (PALGITI ) P MIAWTH PASSMAE D NDOTIAM) DLMSLAN05 PLSMAY  Palileliss

8.3 Lease Payments Not Recogrized as Liabilities

The Group has elected nor to recognize a lease hability for short-term leases. Payments made
under such leases are expensed on a straight-line basis.

The expenses relaning to short-term leases amounted w P1.1 million in 2021, and is presented
as Rentals under Operating Expenses in the 2021 consohdated statement of income
(sec Note 12.1}. There was no similar rransaction in 2023 and 2022,

There was no commitment to short-term leases as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
84  Additgonal Profir or Loss and Cash Flow Information

The total cash outflow in respect of leases amounted to P2.4 million and P27.2 million in 2023
and 2021, respectively. No similar payment was made in 2022.

Certain interest expense incurred on lease amounting ro P249.4 million in 2023 and
P235.4 million 10 2022 is capitalized as part of CIP under Property and Equipment account in
the statements of financial position [sce Notes 3.1(c) and 7).

Toral unrealized foreign exchange loss incurred in relation to the lease is presented as part of
Foreign Exchange Gain - ner in the 2023 and Poreign Exchange Loss — ner in 2022
consolidated statements of income (see Note 12.2).
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The details of this account are as follows:

Note 2023 2022

Current:

Government pavables P 250,801,759 P 75478434

Caonstruction costs payable 240,833,543 501,064,607

Accrued interest pavable 1) 120,385,440 -

Accrued expenses 58,153,086 5,084,284

Others 59,513,195 23,412,890

729,687,023 618,940,215

Non-current

Retention payable 794,690,921 421,175,899

P 1,524.377.944 P 1030116114

Accrued expenses pertain to accrual for professional fees and employee benefits,

Retention payables represent portions of progress billings received from contractors for
the consrruction work performed which are rerained by the Gmup to bind contractors in
completing rhe agreed tasks.

BANK BORROWINGS

On June 8, 2023, the Parent Company entered into a 8-year non-syndicated Omnibus Loan
and Security. Agreement and subsequently amended on Julvy 26, 2023, consisting of a Loan
Facility Agreement, a Mortgage Agreement, a Security Agreement, a Suretyship Agreement,
and a Project Accounts Agreement, with China Banking Corporation (China Bank), Fortune
Noble and SA Investments among others (the Omnibus Loan and Security Agreement).
Under the Omnibus Loan and Security Agreement, an interest-bearing secured senior loan
facility of up to P25.0 billion was made available 1o the Parent Company (the Loan Facility),
subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, the proceeds of which shall be used to partally
tinance the costs for the design, development, and construction of the Main Hotel Casino.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had drawn P8.7 billion from the Loan Facility after
completion of certain project milestones required by the Omnibus Loan and Secunty
Agreement.

The Loan Facility is subject to interest based on a 5-yvear BVAL reference rate plus an agreed
interest premium factor subject to repricing afrer 5 years. The Company is required to maintain
certain financial ratios including maintenance debt-ro-equity ratio and maintenance debt
service coverage ratio starting 2026 and project debt-to-equity ratio after the initial
loan drawdown. All assers of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and material conrracts
entered into by the Company in relation to the construcdon of the Main Hotel Casino are
being held as security.

The outstanding loans as of December 31, 2023, ner of related discounts, are presented as
Bank Bortowings in the 2023 consolidated statement of financial position. Total accrued
interest as of December 31, 2023 (see Nore 9) and inrerest capitalized for the year ended
December 31, 2023 (see: Note 12.2) amounts to P12004 million and PI94.9 million,
tespecrively.
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CONVLERTIBLE BONDS PAYABLE

On May 29, 2020, the Parent Company entered into a subscription agreement with Fortune
Noble for the issuance of zero-coupon convertible bonds at a total subscription price of
P7.300.0 million. The convertble bonds were issued on December 30, 2020 and is converoble
o 6,636,363,636 shares at the conversion price of P1.10 per share, subject to antidilutive
adjustments.

On June 1, 2020, the Parent Company also entered into a subscription agreement with Summit
Ascent Investments Limited (SA Investments), a whollv-owned subsidiary of Summit Ascent
Holdings Limited and a fellow subsidiary of the Parent Company, for the issuance of 6.0%
cunvertible bunds at a tutal subscription price of P5,600L0 million, The convertible bonds
were 1ssued on December 30, 2020 and 55 convertible moe 3,111,111,111 shares ac the
conversion price of P80 per share, subject to antidilutive adjustments.

At the time of the issuance of the bonds, both convertible bonds are pavable up o 2025, which
may subject to agreement by Fortune Noble and SA Investments, upon request of the Parent
Company, be extended up to 2030,

On July 26, 2023, the uriginal Fortune Noble deed poll was supplemented to align its terms
with the Omnibus Loan and Security Agreement, to wit:

* The conversion right in favor of Fortune Noble shall not be exercised for as long as the
loans under the Loan Facility remain outstanding, except when the written consent of
China Bank is secured or at least seventy-five percent (753%) of the outstanding loans under
the Loan Facility have been repaid;

s Subordination of the payment of the loan under the Fortune Noble - P7.3B CB to the
payment of the loans under the Omnibus Loan and Secunity Agreement;

e Undertaking not to dispose nor create any lien or encumbrance on the bonds until the
loans under the Loan Facility are fully paid, except when expressly allowed under the
Omnibus Loan and Security Agreement; and

e LUndertaking on the part of Fortune Noble to extend the marurity of the Fortune

Maoble - P7.3B CB o 2030, as allowed thersunder.

On Seprember 20, 2021, the Parent Company entered into another subseription agreement
with 5A Investments for the issuance of 6.0% convertble bonds at a total subscription price
of P6,400.0 million. The convertible bonds were issued on June 10, 2022 and is convertible
into 3,878, 787,878 shares at the conversion price of P1.65 per share, subject 1o antidilutive
adjustments. The convertible bond is pavable up to 2025, which maybe subject to agreement
by SA Investments, upon request of the Parent Company, be extended up o 2025,

On July 26, 2023, the Parent Company and 5A Investments entered into the Conditional
Supplements to the Deed Polls dated December 30, 2020 and June 10, 2022, On
Seprember 13, 2023, the Conditienal Supplements to the Deed Polls were approved by rhe
independent sharcholders of Summir Ascent Holdings Limited (5A Holdings) and amended
the SA  Investments - P5.68B CB  and  SA  Investments - P64B CB
(the “SA Investments Convertible Bonds™).
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Below are the matenial changes to the SA Investments Convertible Bongs:

1. The conversion right in favor of SA Investments shall not be exercised for as long as the
loans under the Loan Facility remain uutﬁmnding, exeept when the written eonsent of
China Banking Corporation is securcd or at least seventy-hive percent (73%) of the
ourstanding loans under the Loan Facility have been repaid; and

i, Subordination of the payment of the loans under the SA Investments Convertible Bonds
tor the payment of the loans under the QLS A,

On July 26, 2023, the Parent Company and SA Investments entered into the 2023 Subscription
Agreement pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue and SA Tovestments conditionally
agreed to subscribe for the 2023 SA Investments Convertible Bond in the aggregate
subscription price equivalent to P13,511,100,000 {the “CB Subscription Prce), The CB
Subscription Price of the 2023 SA Investments Convertible Bond pertains o the aggregate of
the ourstanding amounts, inclusive of principal and accrued interest, of the SA Investments
Convertible Bonds.

The 2023 SA Investments Convertible Bond shall be issued upon the satisfaction or waiver of
certain conditions precedent on or before Aprl 30, 2024 such as obraining regulatory
approvals for the issuance of the 2023 SA Investments Convertible Bond, securing
shareholder approval, the set-off, and other transactions contemplated therein, and obtaining
approval for the interest waiver, among others. If any of the conditions precedent is not
satsfied or (as the case may bej notwaived by SA Investments on or before the Apnil 30, 2024,
the 2023 Subscription Agreement shall be terminated and the parties to the same shall be
released and discharged from their respective obligatons therein, Otherwise, the 2023
Subscription Agreement and 2023 SA Investments Convertible Bond shall supersede
subscription agreements entered into by the Company with SA Investments in 2021 and 2020
and the SA Investments Convertible Bonds.

Upon issuance of the 2023 SA Investments Convertible Bond, the CB Subscription Price will
be applied by the Parent Company to redeem the SA Investments Convertible Bonds by way
of setting off the amount due by the Parent Company to 8A Investments in full or in part.
Any shortfall shall be paid by the Parent Company in cash to SA Investments, The Company
and SA Investments will execute a ser-oft deed for that purpose.

As of December 31, 2023, the Parent Company has yer to receive SEC approval or
confirmation of exempt transaction for the 2023 SA Tnvestments Convertible Bond.

The fair valoes at initial recognition and the carrying amounts of the financial liability
components, calculated based on the fair value of the principal less any directly attributable
transacton costs are presented below and in the succeeding page.

Forune 54 5A
el [nwestments - Irrvestments
1730 CR Paof CH [Ph4b B Taral

Tialarce st Januvary 1, 2022 PaTeads5d8] P 445428522 I - D28 584,005
Face value of the bands

issued in 2022 - - £, 00,000, D0 n, 000 0, O
Boned issue cnsts . . { S 404000 | S8 40000
Nt procedds B, 345 530, 40 G35 556G 00
Armeunt chassified as eguin - - ¢ 115913007y (| 159.]59074 )
Amartized interest for the year

etvded December 31, 2022 532732172 291126417 | 75,659,508 999 518,157

Carrying amiwent of labiliry

at December 31, 2022 EA2IBEET65) Po4434554030 EAL360U504094 PIALISAN0.0RG



Fortme M A
MNoble - [nwestmienty - Inviestments -
Prap Ch P56 CH PhdB OB Tl
Balimee ar begiming ol year PAIEERTE5Y P 4434554930 P 330205049 PI5115,499.080
Amortieed miterest for the vear
ended December 31, 2023 SWENEE592 333,189,700 3203773 1292422414
Carrving amount of labilivy
it December 31, 2023 P5910,916,595 P 4769744639 P AT27.200,206  P16,407.921,500

The financial liability components is carried at amortized cost using the effective interest
method. The effective interest rates of the Fortune Noble P7.3B Convertdble Bond, SA
Investments P5.6B Convertible Bond, 3A Investments Po4B Convertnble Bond are
10.6%, 14.2% and 13.1%, respectively.

In 2023 and 2022, the Group capitalized the interest expense as part of CIP under Property
and Equipment account in the consolidated statements of financial  position
|see Notes 3.1(c), 7, and 11.2]. Oustanding interest payables amounting o P1,464.1 million
and P710.2 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 are recorded as part of Due to Related
Parties accounts in the consolidated statements of financial position (see Note 15.5).

Conversion uptions, which represents the residual amount after deducting the finandal linbility
component from the fair value of the instruments amounted to P5.752.0 million as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, is presented as Convertible Bonds Equity Reserve
under the Fquity section of the consolidated statements of financial position,

The fair values of the convertible bonds were determined by a firm of independent
pruff:-ssimn:i] viluers u*,iirlg the upton ptin:f allocardon method,

The inputs used for the calculations of fair values of convertible bonds were as follows:

Fortune SA SA
MNoble - Investments -  Investments -
P7.3B CB Ps.6B CB P6oABR CB
Enterprise value (in millions) P 2546250 P 2546250 P 2546250
Conversion price 1.10 1.80 1.65
Expected option life 2 years 2 years 2 years
Risk free rate 6.3%0 6.3% £5.3%

Vaolanlity 47.9% 47.9% 47.9%
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COSTS AND EXPENSES
12.1 Operating Expenses

The details of operating expenses are shown below.

MNotes 2023 2022 2021
Salaries and employee benefits 13 P232,109,120 P 35010888 P 41,504,028
Oatsourced services 36,234,029 50,322,418 35,002,605
Taxes. licenses and other fees 35,811,404 151,040} HES.112
Transportation and travel 30,428,822 4,665,733 197.717
Professional fees 16,016,640 10,771,634 22,041 468
Depreciation and amortization 7,8 7,176,011 730,329 28317197
Utilities and supplics 3,357,111 719,403 4682528
Represenration and entertainment 1,585,944 T.932 794 Ho,145
Trainings and conferences 579,365 166,997 158,302
Rentals - - 1,114,929
Cthers 32,538,371 5,973,174 4,721,349

P395,836,817 P116474.417 P139.014470

Orthers include association dues, penalties and surcharges, freight and handling charge,
insurance, and other miscellaneous expenses.

12.2 Finance Costs and Foreign Exchange Loss (Gain)— net

The details of finance costs and foreign exchange loss — net are shown below,

Notes 2023 2023 2021
Interest on:
Convertible bonds 11 P1,292,422.414 POYY 518157 PT732230073
Coupon CBs 11 900,000,000 616,533,333 336,000,000
Lease liabilities 8.2, 84 249,777,719 235,410,607 237,294 382
Bank borrowings 10 194,880,581 - -
Loan from related parties 15.2 35,220,480 = <
Short-term borrowings 15.6 - 259,667,284 225451726

- 63,568,582 29497170
2,672,301,194 2174697963 1,560,473 351
Less: Capitalized interest T (_2,671,913,559) (2,174,697 963) (1,559.271.775)

Other financing costs

P 387,635 P - P 1201576

Foreign exchange loss (gain) — net:
Unrealized foreign

exchange loss (gain) 5 (P 89,834,345) P438.024 353 P391,239 823
Realized foreion

exchange loss H.4 42,648,868 259 408,920 3,708,319
Realized foreign

exchange gain 5 ( 6.157,222) (_287.419.473) (__ 54.899.500)

(B__53,342,699) P440.013.800 P340.1380642



13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Expenses recognized as salanes and employee benefits are presented below.

Mote 2023 2022 2021
Short-term benefits P 232,109,120 P 34948364 P 40,325,729
Mandatory provident
fund (MPT) - 62,524 1,478,299
121 P_232,109,120 P 33010388 P 41,804,028

Salaries and employee benefits amounting to P54.6 million and P1.2 million were eapitalized
2023 and 2022 as% part of CIP ander Pmp-r:rr_r.-' and i".quiprnﬂnr account in the consolidared
statements of financial position.

The Parent Company and its subsidiaries, WCPML and WC Hotel, bave not yer established a
formal post-employment henefit plan and do not accrue post-emplovyment benefits foar its
employees due to insignificance of the amount.

SWCPMLL operates MPT Schemes, a compulsory pension fund for all qualifying emplovees in
Hong Kong, The assets of these schemes were held separately from those of SWCPML. The
cost charge to the 2022 and 2021 consolidated statements of income represent contnbutions
pavable to the funds by SWCPML ar rates specified in the rules of the schemes,

14. TAXES

The companents of tax expense relaning 1o profit or loss is presented below,

2023 2043 2121

Current tox expenge:
Final tax P 5,269,066 | 377G N P L
23,412 #90

Capiral gains mx ..

P_5269,066 P 577016 P 24,882.384

A reconciliation of tax on pretax loss computed at the applicable statutory rates to tax expense
reported in the consolidated statements of iIncome is as follows:

2023 20522 121

Tax un pretix Jinss {_lﬁ'“fn] {P BL938,972) (P1ATATS2TY (P 243794005
Adjusmment for income subjeced

o livacer ineome tox rares 5,266,135 374,655 195800536
Tax eifects af

Unrecognized DTA on NOLCO 106,574,867 25,063,254 1,961,865

Changes in anrecognized e DTA { 24,538,254) 140,335,294 T

Non-deductible expenses 905,290 LI77.010 -
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The Parent Company is subject to Minimum Corporate Income Tax (MCTT) while its local
subsidiary is not yet subjeet to MCIT as it was only incorporated in 2021, It is compured at
1.5% in 2023 and 1% in 2022 of gross income, as defined under the tax regulations or Regular
Corporate Income Tax (RCTT), whichever is higher, The Parent Company and WC Hotel did
not report MCIT or RCTT in 2023, 2022 and 2021 as they are in a gross loss position during
the taxable years.

The Parent Company’s foreign subsidiaries are subject ro income and other taxes based on the
enacted tax laws of the countries and /or jurisdictions where they operate,

The Parent Company and its local subsidiary did not recognize deferred tax assets ansing from
NOLCO and unrealized foreign exchange loss as management has assessed thar they may not
be able to realize their related tax benefits.

Final tax expense is incurred from interest income earned on cash in banks and short-term
AP
placements (see Nore 5).

As of the December 31, 2023 and 2022, the total unrecognized net deferred tax assets relare
toy the items presented below.

2023 2
Arnoning Tax Effect \ LI Ty Effect
MNOLED P 614,080,057 P 153,545,014 T 187ERSEY P 465970147
Unrealized fisreiem curmeney
lerdges = net 643, 608, F05 60,502 082 TA4LTA], A2 185 4418346

P 1,257,768,422 P__3N&447.006 T 930641071 P 2ARAI04%3

The demils of unrecognized NOLCO incurred by the Parent Company which ¢an be claimed
as deduction from its respective future taxable income within three years from the year the
taxable loss was incurred are shown below. Pursuant o Section 4 (bbb) of Republic Act
(R.AL) 11494, Bayaniban to Recover as Ope (Bavanihan 11), the NOLCO for taxable vears 2021
and 2020 shall be claimed as deduction within five vears immediarely following the year of
such loss.

Year Original Expired Remaining Valid
Incurred Amount Amount Balance LUntil
2023 P426,2994068 P - P426,299 468 2026
2022 [ (12,294 647 = 102,294 647 2025
2021 7,365,170 : 7,365,170 2026
2020 78,220,772 - 78,220,772 2025

P614,180,057 P -  P614,180,057
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group’s transactions with related parties, which include stockholders, and related parties
by common ownership, and the Group’s key management are deseribed below and in the
succeeding pages.

Ohursranding
— Amowntof Trapsastion _ Receivable (Payahle)
— Related Parry Caregory  Notes 2023 M 22 T T
Seockhobders:
Subscripacen of shans 153 P37 499990 P - P - ” = FRI AT 400
Interest on comvernble
b= 122 SO 028,042 AFLTIENTR AT 4 - -
lssuance f
corvernble londs 11, 151 - ( 5M0,%16,5%5) ¢ 3318 887.653)
Sharcholder’s nterest 157 - ( U3, Tk, 314) | 43,700, 3147
Payment of ciees: procoeds 155 = { T TALI62) -
Receipr from sale of
imvestent properey 154 - : 2T IEE014 - -
Related Partice
Ulrimaie Parcni:
Lisin 152 330,145,597 : : (331,149,897 :
lnterest in loan 158,143 1,602,547 - - { 11,696,648 ) -
Ingermediate Parent:
Lian 152 262,523,102 - - { 262,522,102) -
Ingereston loan 152,122 4,224 414 - . { 4,145,205y -
Under Commnon
Orwnerahip:
Iomercst on conversibile
Esumeds 151,155 1,60KE393 472 OB A0 318 SEERSS A { L,336,53333) 0 6ln 533,234
1 st 152,150 LIOBOIOG0E 653400000 aUmTARLO00 {  1,108,000,654)
Tntcrest on loas 15.2, 156 19,393,219 250 177 26 225451720 19,045,018)
sy i 5,536,159 . - { 5,536,159)
Fesamngy of converrhle
beinds 12 151 - 3,186 W, D26 - { 10,497,004,908) 1 706617 4330
Clursouscod servapcs 159 - - 25,580 T - -
Pavmunt of ceess
procceils 155 - - { MLOAT N = =
Kev Management
Personmel =
Cnmpemsation 1510 76,325 388 B4 EIR TS G A3 A L0 -

151 Issuance of Convertible Bonds

In 2020, the Parent Company entered into separate subscription agreements whereby Fortune

Noble and SA Investments agreed to subscribe in the aggregate principal amount of
P7.300.0 million and P5,600.0 million convertilile bonds.

On September 20, 2021, the Parent Company and SA Investments entered into a Convertible
Bond Subscription Agreement (CB Subseription Agreement), where the Parent Company
agreed to issue to SA Investments and 5A Investments agreed to subscribe to the Convertible
Bond (CB) in the principal sum of up to a maximum of up to P6,400.0 million.

On June 10, 2022, the Parent Company issued the CB upon completion of all conditions
precedents and secured regulatory approval from a related party (see Note 11). As at such
date, the loan from a related party (see Note 15.6) has been effectively fully paid including the
balance of the accrued interest in excess of the maximum amount of CB approved for issuance
amountng to LUS56,8 million.

The amortized amount of the convertible bonds are presented as Convertible Bonds Payable
in the consolidated statements of fnancial position.



15.2 Loans from Related Parties

On May 25, 2023, Major Success and the Parent Company entered into a Loan Agreement
amounting U'S36.0 million to fund the design, development and constructdon of Main Hotel
Casino to be erected and located at Entertainment City, Manila, The loan shall be subjecr
5.5% per annum and pal}-‘ﬂ.b|t within 5 vears from drawdown, extendible by another 5 years.

On July 26, 2023, 8A lnvestments entered into a loan agreement with the Parent Company,
pursuant to which SA Investments conditionally agreed to extend a USS200.0 million loan to
the Company payable within 10 years from drawdown unless extended by SA Investments or
is shortened due to the happening of an event of default. The loan shall be subject to interest
at the rate of six percent (6%) per annum. The loan proceeds was used to fund the construction
teserve account as required by the Omnibus Loan and Security Agreement.

On July 27, 2023, LET Group entered into a loan agreement with the Parent Company,
pursuant to which the LET Group agreed to extend a US35.0 million loan to the Company
pavable within ten (10) vears from initial drawdown unless extended by the LET Group or is
shortened due to the happening of an event of default. The loan shall be subject w0 interest at
the rate of 5.5% annual rate. The loan proceeds will be used to partially fund the costs for the
design, development, and construction of the Main Hotel Casino.

‘The above related party loans are considered 1o be subordinated ro the bank borrowings under
the Omnibus Loan and Security Agreement (see Note 10).

The outstanding balance related to these loans amounted to P17 billion as of
December 31, 2023 and is presented as part of Loans from Related Parties account in the
2023 consolidated statement of financial position. Interest expense incurred in 2023
amounted to P35.2 million and is capitalized as part of CIP under Property and Equipment in
the 2023 consolidated statement of financial position.  Acerued interest as  of
December 31, 2023 amounted to P33.9 million and is presented as part of Due to Related
Parties account in the 2023 consolidated statement of financial position.

15.3 Subscription Receivable

In 2019, the Parent Company’s stockholders subscribed to additional shares of the Parent
Company amounting to P3,000.0 million, of which P1,250.0 million was paid to the Parent
Company representing 25% of the subseription.  In 2020, the Parent Company received an
amount of P2550.0 million in relation to the subseription. The subscription receivable was
fully collected by the Company in 2023 (see Note 17),

15.4 Sale of Investrnent Property

In 2019, the Parent Company sold its investunent property to a stockholder, The balance from
such sale amounting to P27 .4 million was collected in 2021, There is no outstanding obligation
relating ro said transaction as at December 31, 2023 and 2022,

15.5 Duwe ro Relared Parties

The movements in due to related parties during the years ended December 31 are as follows:

MNores 2023 2022
Balance at beginning of year P 710,239,648 P 352,744,754
Accrual of interest 11, 12 753,886,871 793,516,558
Payment of interest = [ 628469 468
Payment of accrued expenses - ( 7.552.196)

Balance at end of vear P1,464,126,519 P _T10.239 648
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In 2023, following the Omnibus Loan and Secunty Agreement of the Parent Company
(see Nore 11), the convertible bonds and loans from related parties became subordinated to
the bank borrowing (see Note 11}, Accordingly, the unpaid principal and related accrued
interests are classified as non-current liabilitics in the 2023 consolidated statement of financial
position.

15.6 Loan Agreement with 8A Investments

On Febroary 23, 2021, the Parent Company, as borrower, entered into a Loan Agreement for
the principﬂ] sum of up to US$1 2000 million at the interest gate of 6.00% per annum, p:lj,'ﬂh]{:
three months after the date of drawing, with SA Investments (Loan Indebtedness). On
May 18, 2021, the Parent Company drew the entire principal sum of LIS$120L0 million, The
proceeds of the loan is planned ro be utilzed for the construction of the Main Hotel Casino.
The Loan Indebtedness has been renewed on a monthly basis and the maturity date has been
extended up to July 18, 2022,

The SA Investments - P6.4 billion CB was issued on June 10, 2022 (see Notes 11 and 15.1)
after the completion of certain conditions precedent under CB Subscription Agreement. The
proceeds of the SA Investments — P6.4 billion CB was set off against the amount of the Loan
Indebtedness, plus the accrued interest.

Prior to offsetting, the outstanding balance of the loan as of December 31, 2021 amounted to
P6,092.9 million and is presented as Loan from a Related Party in the 2021 consolidated
statement of Anancial position.

Toral finance cost capitalized for the year ended December 31, 2022 amounting to
P259.7 million is capitalized as part of CIP under Property and Equipment account in the
consolidared statement of financial position (see Note 7).

Toral realized foreign exchange gain incurred in 2023 are presented as part of Poreign
Exchange Gain - net and unrealized foreign exchange loss in 2022 are presented as part of
Foreign Exchange Loss - net in the 2023 and 2022 consolidated statements of income
(sce MNote 12.2).

15.7 Shareholder's Loan Agreement with Fortune Noble

On July 23, 2020, the Parent Company entered into a shareholder’s loan agreement with
Forrmane Noble for P7,300.0 million to support the construction and development of the Main
Hotel Casino. The loan is interest-beating, unsecured and will mature on the earlier of the
date falling one month from the dare of first drawing or the dare of complenon of the
converrible bond subscription agreement.  On December 30, 2020, the outstanding loan
halance pursuant to the shareholder’s loan agreement amounting to P5,400.7 million was set
off against the proceeds of the issuance of the convertible bonds. As ar December 31, 2020,
the sharcholder’s loan has been effectvely fully paid.
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15.8 Co-Developiment Agreement

In 2019, the Parent Company entered into a CDA with Wesrside. The principal terms of the
agreement are as follows:

(i} Suntrst sbhall Vease the Progect Nite (L., the site wpon which the botel caving is to be ervete) from
W estrice.

The Parent Company shall lease the site upon which the Main Horel Casino will be
erected untl August 19, 2039, The lease shall be renewed subject to applicable laws for
another 25 years unless otherwise agreed upon by the parties. The annual rental shall be
payable uwpon the commencement of operation of the Main Horel Casino.

The said lease was entered into by the parties on February 21, 2020 (see Note 8),
(i) Suntrst shall Finance the Development and Constraction of the Main Hotel Caring,

The Parent Company shall finance the development and construction of a the Main
Hotel Casino on the leased arca. The Parent Company shall also pav a certain fixed
amount to Westside for usage of the properties and reimbursement of costs already
incurred and construction works that have already been accomplished on the Project
Site {see Note 18.1).

(iit)  Westride Nhall Enter into an Agreessent with Suntrust, for the Latter to Operate and Manage the
Main Hotel Casino.

Suntrust and Westside shall enter into an agreement for the operations and management
of the Main Hotel Casino for the period of the guming Provisional License Agreement
of Westside (e, up w July 11, 2033) as well as any extension or renewal of the
Provisional License Agreement on terms of the operations and management agreement
to be mutually agreed between by the Parent Company and Westside.

The operations and management agreement was entered into by the patties on
May 4, 2020} (see Note 18.2),

15.9 Services and Consuftancy Agreement with a Related Party Under Common
Ownership

On August 1, 2021, the Parent Company entered into a Services and Consultancy Agreement
with a related party under common ownership, whereby the related party shall provide
assistance to the Parent Company. Total service fees incurred amounted to P25.5 million and
presented as part of Ouwsourced services under the Operating Expenses in the 2021
consolidated statement of income, Ourstanding pavable is presented as part of Due to Relared
Parties account in the 2021 consolidated statement of financial position. The balance was
fully setrled in 2022,

1510 Key Management Personnel Compensation

Total key management compensation including those arising from service arrangements with
key management personnel of the Parent Company amounred o P76.3 million in 2023 and
P54.5 million in 2022, There are no unpaid compensation to members of key management as
of December 31, 2023 and 2022,



16. LOSS PER SHARE

The basic and diluted carnings loss per share is compured as follows:

2023 2022 2021
Net loss (P 348,051,060) (P 557,052,037) (P 504,878,084
Divided by the weighted average
number of ourstanding shares 7,250,000,000 7,250,000,000  7,250,000,000
Basic and diluted EPS (P 0.048) (P 0.077) (P (.07

On December 30, 2020), the Parent Company issued convertible bonds to Fortune Noble and
8A  Investments, which are convernble o 0,0630,303,036 and 3,111,111,111 shares,
respectvely, On June 10, 2022, SA Investments issued additional convertible bonds, which
are convertible to 3878 787 878 shares (see Note 11}, There 15 no conversion vet as of
December 31, 2023,

The computation of diluted loss per share did not assume the conversion of the outstanding
convertible bonds of the Pavent C{}mpn ny since the conversion of the outsta nding convertible
bonds would result in decrease in diluted loss per share.

17. EQUITY
17.1  Capital Stock

The details of the Parent Company’s capital stock as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 arc as

foallows:
___ Shares Amount
2023
Common shares — P1.00 par value
Authonzed P23,000,000,000
Subscribed TS0 00, 0 P_7,250,000,000
2022:
Common shares — P1LOD par value
Authonzed 23.000,000,000 P_23,000,000,000
Subscribed 7,250,000,000) P 72500000000

Subscription receivable (1,387,499.990)

5 FUHLL
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On September 23, 2014 and November 18, 2014, the Parent Company’s BOD and
stockholders, rcspccriv::l}r, :tppmw_'d an increase in the authorzed c-api'ra] stock of the Parent
Company from 3,000,000,000 common shares with par value of PLOO per share to
23,000,000,000 common shares with par value of PLU per share, 'This was subsequently
ratificd by the Parent Company’s BOD and stockholders on October 25, 2019 and
Ocrober 29, 2019, respectively, and was approved by the SEC on December 20, 2014
Subsequent to the approval, the amount of P1.25 billion received in October 2019 was applied
as partial payment for the subscription of 5,000,000,000 shares, In 2020), the Parent Company
received P2.55 billion from Fortune Noble as payment for the latter’s subscription over the
capital stock of the Parent Company.

On June 9, 2006, the PSE approved the listing of the Parent Company's shares rotaling
2000,000L000. The shares were inidally issued at an offer price of PLOO per share. On
February 23, 2023, the Parent Company listed additional 2,550,000,000 shares at P1.00 per
share through a private placement in the PSE.

As of December 31, 2023, and 2022, there are 1,584 and 1,580 helders of the lisied shares,
which closed at PU.B0 and PU.YY per share, respectively.

On April 26, 2023, the Parent Company received full payment of its subscription receivables
from its shareholders amounting to P1,387.5 million.

17.2 Starus of Operations

The Group incurred net losses from its operations in prior years which resulted in
a deficit of P3,542.6 million and P3,194.6 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively, Management believes that this does not raise material uncertainty related to going
concern as the Company expects to generate revenues in the foreseeable future upon
completion of its Main Hotel Casino. Further, management is able to secure additional
funding from a financial institution in 2023 (see Note 10) and hence management assessed
that the funding is sufficient for its completion of the construction of the Main Hotel Casino.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
181  Co-Development Agreement with a Related Party Under Common Ownership

In 2019, the Parent Company entered into a CDA with a related party under common
ownership, with respect to the development of Main Hotel Casino. Under this agreement, the
Parent Company is to raise funds of not less than US$300L0 million within 5 months (as further
extended 0 December 31, 2020 by five supplemental agreements to the CDA),
US$200.0 million (P9,8533.7 million} of which is payment for the initial cost of the project.

On February 21, 2020, and in relaton to the Co-Development Agreement (CDA)
(see Nore 15.8), the Parent Company entered into a lease agreement with a relared party under
common ownership, over three parcels of land, The lease agreement prrwidtﬁ tor an original
term of until August 19, 2039 (19 years) and is renewable automatically for another 25 years
subjecet to applicable laws and upon agreement by both parries.

The related annual rental is set ar US§10.6 million which is payable starting from the latter of
the first da}' ot commencement of the operation of the Main Horel Casino and the fulfilment
of the conditions precedent or such other dates as may mutually agreed upon by both parties.
Management estimated that the operaton shall commence in the first quarter of 2025
{sce Note 8).
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182  Operation and Management Agreement with a Related Party Under Conimon
Ownership

On May 4, 2020, the Parent Company entered into an Operation and Management Agreement
with a related party under common ownership whereby the Parent Company shall operate and
manage the Main Hotel Casino (which 15 expected to commence operation in the first quarter
of 2025). The agreement is effective upon the execution date of May 4, 2020 until
July 11, 2033 and may be extended or renewed as mutually agreed upon by both parties
(see Note 15.8)

18.3  Capital Commitments

As of December 31, 2023, the Group has commitments of approximately P15,657.1 million
for the construetion and pre-opening of the Main Horel Casine.

184  Ohers

In relation to the Omnibus Loan and Security Agreement, the Parent Company is granted by
a domestic bank a loan facility amounting to P25.0 billion, subject to certain conditions. As of
December 31, 2023, the undrawn portion of the facility amounted to P16.3 billion
(see Note 10).

The Group has other commitments and contingencies that may arise in the normal course of
the Group's operations which have not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
Management is of the opinion that losses, if any, from these other commitments will not have
material effects on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group is exposed to a varlety of finaneial risks in relation to financial instruments. The
Group’s risk management is coordinated with the BOD and focuses on actively securing the
Group's shorr-to-medium rerm cash flows by minimizing the exposure 1o financial markets.

Exposure to foreign currency interest rate, credit and liquidity risk arise in the ordinary course
of the Group’s business activities. The main objective of the Group’s risk management is o
identify, moniror, and minimize those risks and to provide cost with a degree of certainty.

The Group does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes
nor does it write options. The relevant financial risks to which the Group is exposed to are
described below and in the succeeding pages.

19.1  Foreign Currency Risk

Maost of the Group's transactions are carried out in Philippine pesos, its funcrional currency.
Exposures to currency exchange rates arise from the Group’s foreign currency-denominared
ciash, due to related parties, trade and other pavables and lease habilites which are primarily
denominated in L5, Deollar (US$), and Hong Kong Dollar (HKS).

To mirigate the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, non-Philippine peso cash flows
are monitored.
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Foreign currency  denominated financial assets and financial habilities, translated into
]Jhilippinc pesos at the c!nsing rate a5 of December 31 are as follows:

LSS I'"HP Equivalont HE=S PHY Equivabemt
ek
Financial ussem 5 2E3THE . P | 146,804,028 1 ShEE P 4132018
Finorecial leabalitics i 144 B2 700 1 R EREEER TS
(5 1241954615 (P GO0LESMIRLY & SROME4 P 4032018
e [
Fimangial assess 3 FRSTOUEE. P 1098332163 § LS TOUE 508
Finangial abalites i LR SAg B2 [ i 154G 46T | - -

(Dt ARG ) (RS2 30 & A4 L AL

The tollowing table illustrates the sensitivity of the Group's loss beftore tax with respect
changes in Philippine peso against U8, and HK dollar exchange rates. The percentage
changes in rates have been determined based on the average market volatility in exchange
rates, using standard deviation, in the previous 12 months at a 99% confidence level,

2023 i jele]
Heazonahiy Effect in Effect in Risizomally Effect in Effect
possible change  loss before eoquity after possible change  boss biefore coquity after
im rate fax X i ot (53 fax

Phi*—U58 1602 (P1,105,852 28501 629.411,712) lamate (P AR P G001 1,615)
Ph*— k5 16.20% 04,309 Sk, 482 | Sadn L1239 paw BAT 404

(P1,105,292,974)(P__ 528,909,730) (P8I 218.881 (P (03,164 161)

Expaosures to foreign exchange rates vary during the vear depending on the volume of foreign
currency denominated transactions. Nonetheless, the analysis above is considered to be
representative of the Group's currency risk.

192  Interesr Rare Risk

As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Group is exposed to changes in market interest rates
through its cash and cash equivalents which are subject to vartable interest rates {see Note 5).
All other financial assets and Anancial liabilities have fixed rates or are non-interest bearing,
Management believes that the impact of the flucruanons in interest rates would not materially
impact the Group’s consolidated financial statements since the interest rates have shown
insignificant changes duning the years and the Group’s interest income amounts only to
P41.4 million, P4.5 million and P7.7 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. In 2023
and 2022, interest income amounting to P41.4 million and P4.5 million, respectively, was
deducted from the capitalized borrowing cost as it serves as an investment income on the
temporary investment of those borrowings,

19.3  Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty may fail to discharge an obligation to the Group, The
Group continuously monitors defaults of customers and other counterparties, identified either
individually or by group, and incorporate this information into its eredit risk controls. The
Group's policy is to deal only with ereditworthy counterparties.
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The maximum credit risk exposure of financial assets is the carrving amount of the financial
assets as shown on the consolidated statements of financial position or in the detailed analysis
provided in the notes o consolidated financial statements, as summanized below.

Notes 2023 2022
Cash and cash equivalents 5 P6,021,360,034  1P1.291.0609 422
Refundable deposits 6 29,410,057 911,222

P6,050,770,091 P1.291,699.044

Nune of the Group’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other eredit enhancements
except for cash as deseribed below.

fa)  Cash and Cash Fguivalents

The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents is considered negligible, since the
counterpartes are reputable banks with high quality external eredit ratings. Cash in
banks, which are insured by the Philippine Deposit Insurance Corporation up to a
maxirmum coverage of PIL5 million per depositor per banking unit as provided for under
R.AL 9302, Charter of Plilgppine Deposit Lnswrance Corporatian, are sull subject to credit risk.

(b)  Refundable Deposits

Management deemed that refundable deposits are subject to minimal exposure of credit
risk as these can be applicd against future rentals and /or to be recovered thmugh refund
at the end of the lease term.

19.4  Liguidity Risk

The Group manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing
pavments for long-term financial liabilives as well as cash outflows due in a day-to-day
business. Liquidity needs are monitored in various tme bands, on a day-to-day and
week-to-week basis, as well as on the basis of a rolling 30-dav projection. Long-term liquidity
needs for a three months and one year period are identified monthly.

The (:‘r!":!ul'l maintains cash to meet its liquaidity n:quirc:rm:nh-;. Fisr up to Ol)-day Ptriuds_ Flxcess
cash are invested in short term placements.  Funding for long-term liquidity needs is
addinonally secured b}.' an udcqu;ltc amount of committed credir facilines.

The table below and in the succeeding page summarizes the maturity profile of the Parent
Company’s financial liabilities except tax related liabilities and lease lLability (see Mote 8.2) as
at December 31 reflecting the gross cash flows, which may differ from the carrving values of
the liabilities at the end of reporting periods,

_ Cuprent  _ MNon-guerent

Less than 2t 5 foro 10
2023:
Fank horrowings ) PoOTIENLAMN T SOTRAMIM  PTAATIM 52
Teade and other payvables 2 478,B85, 204 T4 02 -
e o related paries 15.4 - - 404126519
Toans from a related partes 156 . . 2OTOA0E 655
Crorvertihle honds 1'III.:|'i|l‘.|ﬁH 11 s e ]

B L20LI97,004 B 5.873,095,120 Fi3,551.203.737
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Cumrent MNon-currene
Less than 2wxh fito 10
N _ 1¥ear Ypars W irs
bl
Treade and other pavabies b P 333461781 P F2LITH RN P
e o relared parties 15.4 TILZAY, G .
Convertihle bonds payable 11 - - ek R TR

Ll24anilas It 421,175,699 P23 220000
The Group's convertible bonds presented above assumed that the holders will not execure the

conversion opton. [f the bonds were converted, there would be no cash outflow upon
maturity of the bonds.

CATEGORIES AND OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL
LIABILITTES
20.1  Carryving Amounts and Fair Values by Catcgory

The carrving amounts and fair values of the caregories of financial assets and financial liabilities
presented in the consolidated statements of financial position are shown below,

2023 WHIT
R Cirrying Valves  Fale Valoes  Carpane Valises Fale Walucs
Frnancial Assers
Femancil agsers at ameernred costs
{zash and canh equivalenss L] A0 36,0 POGUZEIG0NEE BO1200 a0 22 P10 i 22
Retondable deposics fi 29, 41,057 20,410,057 1L b Y.
P50, 70 605077000 11 1 200 000 s T 120 ] ate e
Financial Matwlinies
Fimancial Kahifitics at smorascd coat
Hank bsrrowings 14k I H273,607332 10,265,052, 705 1 - " -
Tracle and teher payables v 1,273,576,183 1,273,576,183 54,657, GHO 361 AR
Dhiee oo Febated pasiies 155 1,464, L2, 509 1,464, 126,519 THL2RD N TINN AN
Iease Rabilies #a A2 25411 28 25 411 G, 050461 454 6150401 454
Comerrible bunds 1 THAOT.H20,500  BEAIT,I00267 15105095086 1A 14T, T
Lawanis from pedaved gaotics 1 _lath g2 ey 1923512, 18 H -

P35 44,830,638 PIOTUI0 A2 PRI EIT AR 117 004450 458

A description of the Group’s risk managemenr objectives and policies for financial instruments
is provided in Note 19,

20.2  Offsetting of Finanecial Assets and Finaneial Liabilities

The Group has not set off financial instruments in 2023 and 2022 and does not have relevant
offsetring arrangements, excepr as disclosed in Note 15, Currently, all other financial assets
and financial liabilities are sertled on a gross basis; however, each party to the financial
instrument (particularly related pardes) will have the option to settle all such amounts on a net
basis in the event of default of the other party through approval by both parnes” BOD and
shareholders, As such, the Group’s ourstanding receivables from and payables to the same
related parties as presented in Note 15 can be potentally offser to the extent of their
corresponding outstanding balances.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT AND DISCLOSURES
211 Fair Value Hierarchy

In accordance with PFRS 13, Far [adwe Measrement, the fair value of financial assets and
liahilittes and non-financial assets which are measured ar fair value on 2 recurring or
non-recurring basis and those assets and Labilities not measured at fair value but for which
fair value is disclosed in accordance with other relevant PFRS, are categorized into three levels
based on the significance of inputs used to measure the fair value.

The tair value hierarchy has the following levels:

o Level 1t quoted prices (unadjusred) in active markets for idenncal assers or liabilities thar
an entity can access at the measurement date;

e lLevel Z inputs other than quoted prices included within Tevel 1 that are ohservable for
the asset or liability, either directly (Le, as prices) or indirectly (Le., derived from prices);
and,

e Level 3 inputs for the asset or hability that arc not based on observable market data
(unovbservable inputs).

The level within which the asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level
of significant input to the fair value measurement,

For purposes of determining the marker value ar Level 1, a market s regarded as active if
quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring marker rransactions on an arm'’s length basis.

21.2 Financial Instrumenes Measurement at Amortized Cost for which Fair Value is
Disclosed

Except for cash and cash equivalents which are under Level 1, all of the Group’s financial
assets and financial liabilities are classified under Level 3. For financial assets with fair values
included in Level 1, management considers that the carrying amounts of those short-term
financial instruments approximate their fair values.

The fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities included in Level 3 above, which
are not traded in an active market, is determined based on the expected cash flows of the
underlying net asset or liability base of the instrument where the significant inputs required 1o
derermine the fair value of such instruments are not based on observable marker data, There
were no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value hierarchy in 2023 and 2022,

213  Financial Instruments at Inftial Recognition - Convertible Bonds

In relation to its convertible bonds, the fair value is determined closely with qualified external
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The fair
value of convertible bonds at initial recognition is determined based on option pricing method
whereby the enterprise value, conversion price, expected option life, risk-free rate, and
volatility were considered as principal inputs |see Notes 3.2(d) and 11].
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern and to prm'idu an ;tclt:qunru return o shareholders in the furare,

The Group also monitors capital on the basis of the carrying amount of cquity as presented
on the consobidated statements of financial positon. It sets the amount of capital in
proportion to its overall financing structure, e, equity and financial liabilities, The Group
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to itin the light of changes in cconomic
conditions and the risk charactenistics of the underlying assets.

SUPPLEMENTAL  INFORMATION ON NON-CASH OPERATING,
FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES

The tollowing are the significant non-cash transactions of the Group:

fal 2023

e The Parent Company’s capitalized borrowing costs arising specific borrowings as
part of CIP from finance charges of convertible bonds, loans from relared parties
and lease liabilities amounting to P2,672.3 million, net of P41.4 million interest
income (see Notes 7, 8, 10, 11 and 12,2},

e The Parent Company’s capitalized amortization of right of use assets amounts to
P726.3 million as of December 31, 2023 (see Note 8.1).

e The Parent Company has unpaid capitalized construction costs amounting to
P2400.8 million as of December 31, 2023 (see Note 7 and 9).

¢ The Parent Company’s management revised its previous estimate as to the
commencement of operaton of its Main Hotel Casino, This resulted o a
remeasurement in the related lease liability and ROUA amounting to P115.4 million
(see Note #),

(b 2022

& The Parent Company issucd a P6.4 hillion convertible bond to a related party and
set off such to the loan indebtedness to the same related party
{see Notes 11 and 15.6).

e The Parent Company’s management revised its |"-'11:‘-"luu$- estimate a5 1o the
commencement of operation of its Main Hotel Casino.  This resulted o a
remeasurement in the related lease lability and ROUA amoundng to P825.2 million
{see Note 8).

¢ SWCPML terminated its existing lease and derecognized the related ROUN and
lease liabilities amounting to P26.2 million and P24.3 million, respectvely
{sce Note H).

* The Parent Company’s capitalized borrowing costs arising specific borrowings as
part of CIP from finance charges of convertible bonds, loan from a related party
and lease linbilities amounting to P22 billion, net of P45 million interest income
{see Notes 7, 8, 10, 11, 12.2 and 15.6).

® The Parent Company has unpaid capitalized construction costs amounting to
P494.3 million as of December 31, 2022 (see Note 7 and 9).
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el 2027

e SWOEPML recognized ROUA and lease liabilities amountng to P30 million and
P49%.6 mullion, respectively (sce Note 8).

e The Parent Company capitalized borrowing costs arising specific borrowings as
part of CIP from finance charges of convertible bonds, loan trom a related party
and lease liabilives amountng to P16 million, net of P7.3 million interest income
{see Notes 7, 8, 10, 11, 12.2 and 15.6).

e ‘T'he Parent Company has unpaid capitalized construction costs amounting to
P631.4 million as of December 31, 2021,

* ‘The Parent Company has unrealized foreign exchange loss from short-term
borrowings amounting o P259.7 million (see Note 15.7).
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SUNMTRUST RESORT HOLDINGS, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
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Dherdngg the Consolidation of Finuncial Statements
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Financinl Assets ot Amortizad Cost
Cash and cash exyuivabents A P 21360005 T 0,021, 366,054
Refundable deposis ML A 29 410,057 20410057

TOTAL

P 6,050,770,041

P 5,054, TTHH, 091




SUNTRUST RESORT HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Schedule C - Amounts Receivable/ Payable from/ to Related Parties which are Eliminated

During the Consolidation of Financial Statements

December 31, 2023
Ending Balance
Name Beginning Balance Addftions Deductions Current Nt Current Toeal

Parent Company
WC Project Management Lirmited BT 74T P [ P Al1B55301% P TRSTRONTZ P 3 THE,TRO072
SWC Project Management Limired AT HI2014 { F22003 ) 7109111 = T 09111

P 1,135,573,387 P - { P 312678204) P H22,895,183 P - 822,895,183
Subsidiary - WC Project Manmagement Limited
SWC Projeer Management Limited P 1L499.088,587 P - (P 16,677,282 P 1,452,411,305 r - 1,482,411,305




SUNTRUST RESORT HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Sehedule I - Longs term debt
Dwring the Consolidation of Financial Statements
December 31, 2023
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SUNTRUST RESORT HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Schedule E - Indebtedness o Related Pardes
December 31, 2023

Balance ar the

Name of related party Beataning of yosr Balance at the end of year

Convertible bonds payable
Fortune Noble Limited P 5318887655 P 5,910,916,595
Summir Ascent Invesments Limired 0.796,611,433 497,004,905
15,115,499,086 16,407 ,921,500

Loans from related parties
Major Success Group Limired - P 331,149,897
LET Group Holdings Limited - 262,522 102
Summit Ascent lnvesments Limited - 1,103,010, 6004
- 1,696,682,693

Lease liabilides

Travellers International Hoeel Group, Tne - 5,536,159
. 5,536,159
P 15,115,499,086 r 18,110,140,552




SUNTRUST RESORT HOLDINGS, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
Schedule G - Capital Stock
Decemnber 31, 2023

Number of shares held by
Number ofshares | Number of shares
Newerbser of susineed and rewerved for DHrvorors,
Tithe af fscue slares wirsanaling as shown | eprions, warmanis, | Refared parties | offfcers and Others
auehorized umder refated bafance | conversion and emplavecs
sfteet cagion oier riglies
oo 23,000,000k 00 TR0 000000 6G.211,195,998 7 1,03E R05.905

Mate: The Company's stockholders subsenbed aod pand o tord of 725 bitbon shares as of December 31, 2023,




LET GROUP HOLDIMGS LIMITED

Map Showing The Relatinnship Batwean LET
Geoup Holdings Limited and its Refated Paries
December 31, 2023

Eagera

bl ol L L6 iy P 1

iR Tasla B
Ay B W
g KW ssTias




SUNTRUST RESORT HOLDINGS, INC.
Mapping of Relatad Partiss
Dacamber 31, 2023

LET i15 a subsdiary of Major Success. FHL is-a subsidiary of LET.
SUN is cansiderad a5 FML's subsidiary whils SWCPMLWCPML and SWOH| are subsidiaries of SUN,



LET GROUP HOLBINGS LIMITED
Mapping of Relatad Partiss
December 31, 2023
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We have audited, in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the consolidated financial
statements of Suntrust Resart Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the Group) for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, on which we have rendered our report dated March 21, 2024,
Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole. The Supplementary Schedule on Financial Soundness Indicators,
including their definitions, formulas, caleulation, and their appropriateness or usefulness lo the
intended users, is the responsibility of the Group's management. These financial soundness
indicators are not measures of operating performance defined by Philippine Financial Reporting
Standards (PFRS) and may not be comparable fo similarly titted measures presented by other
companies, This schedule is presented for the purposes of complying with the Revised
Securities Regulation Code Rule 68 issued by Lthe Securities and Exchange Commission, and Is
not a required part of the basic consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with
PFRS. The components of these financial soundness indicalors have been lraced Lo the Group's
consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 and for the years then
ended and no material exceptions were noted.
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SUMTRUST RESORT HOLDIMNGS, TNC. ANMND SUBSIDIARTES
AMNMEX 68-F - SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS

December 31, 2023 and 2022
Haticr Fuosermnila December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Clurrent rin Current assers ¢ Cuoreent liabdfides 10.44 1.84
Mciad rese rato Cruzck assers [/ Current lnbabines {Chock asscts inclele B.22 {L.45
currecitt assets less other curent ussets)
Sobvdiicy ratio Testul nesets [/ Total hahilties 127 137
Diebr-to-equiny rann Toral linhilies / Toral stockholders’ eguiry 373 270
Agsat-roequity Tt Tostal assets [/ Tistal stockhabdens’ equty 473 AT
Interese pnfe coverige raties | EBET [/ Total interesr nfa nfa
Risturn on equiry Net loss o Average totl cguiry -3.86%, -, TO
Retm on dissers Nervlose J Average tool assers 0.91% -1L.7%%%

Mot profit margn

Met loss / Towml revenues




